Nitrogen uptake and assimilation during Norway spruce somatic embryogenesis

Investigating the role of glutamine

Johanna Carlsson

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2018 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2018:43

Cover: The *in vitro* forest Illustration: Emma Ganeteg

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-226-2 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-227-9 © 2018 Johanna Carlsson, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia, Umeå 2018

Nitrogen uptake and assimilation during Norway spruce somatic embryogenesis – investigating the role of glutamine Abstract

Sweden is currently experiencing shortage of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) seeds due to e.g. irregular flowering and the recent year's outbreaks of pests and pathogens destroying cones and seeds. Therefore, the forest sector is investigating alternative ways of propagating Norway spruce plants to secure Norway spruce regeneration and sustain the genetic diversity.

Somatic embryogenesis (SE) is a vegetative method that can be used for *in vitro* propagation of Norway spruce plants. Plants produced through the SE technique could potentially lead to; i) shorter time from recent tree breeding improvements to reforestation. ii) preserving genetic diversity in managed forests, while maintaining genetic gains from the tree breeding. SE can also be used as a mean to cryo-preserve valuable genetic material and to study embryo development. Unlike the seed embryo development, which is dependent on the surrounding tissue for nutrients, the entire SE development is undeniably dependent on the culture conditions; light, temperature, gaseous environment, media amendments and nutrient composition. I have used SE as a research tool to generate material for studying uptake, and utilization of carbon and nitrogen during Norway spruce embryo development.

My research has contributed new evidence that media supplied glutamine is essential for growth during the process of Norway spruce somatic embryogenesis. I found that media supplied with glutamine is important for maintaining the pool of free amino acids, the building blocks of e.g. DNA, proteins and chlorophyll. In addition, glutamine present in the growth medium assisted in alleviating stress-related metabolic pathways - the alanine aminotransferase pathway and the GABA shunt. Furthermore, the findings from my work can aid the on-going development for an industrial production system for Norway spruce plants through SE.

My research project has been a collaboration between Swedish university of agricultural science (SLU) and the forest company Sveaskog, specifically the seed and plant division Svenska Skogsplantor.

Keywords: Amino acid, Assimilation, Carbon, Germination, Glutamine, Nitrogen, Norway spruce, Somatic embryogenesis, Utilization *Author's address:* Johanna Carlsson, Sveaskog AB, Svenska Skogsplantor, Seed production, SE-341 51 Lagan, Sweden.

E-mail: johanna.carlsson@skogsplantor.se

Preface

There is a re-written version of the popular sea shanty "The drunken sailor" covering the main findings from a thesis about conifer breeding (Prescher, 2007). The thesis version of the shanty is named "The seed orchard song", with the lyrics: *Hooray, the seed is needed* (x 3). For more growth in forests.

Unfortunately, today Norway spruce is on the verge of shipwreck in terms of providing enough elite seed material for Swedish forestry. Thus, in this thesis I will further explore an alternative way of fortifying Norway spruce plant propagation through the process of somatic embryogenesis. So, my version of the shanty lyrics goes like: *Hooray, somatic embryogenesis is needed (x3). For more growth in forests.*

Dedication

My family, and especially my late grandfather Carl-Erik. Och min Iris, för alla de kvällar mamma inte kunde säga god natt.

You are human and fallible. Jane Eyre, by Charlotte Brontë

Contents

List	of publications	9
Abbreviations		11
1	Introduction	13
1.1	Forest ecosystems and forestry	13
1.2	Forest improvement by tree breeding	14
	1.2.1 Norway spruce seed orchards	14
	1.2.2 Vegetative plant propagation	15
1.3	Plant reproduction and embryogenesis	16
	1.3.1 Conifer seed development - zygotic embryogenesis	17
	1.3.2 Embryo development in the laboratory	20
1.4	Basis for plant growth and development	22
	1.4.1 Carbon	23
	1.4.2 Nitrogen	24
2	Aim and objectives	29
3	Materials and methods	31
3.1	Reasons to study in vitro-grown plants	31
3.2	Composition of growth media	32
	3.2.1 Proliferation media	32
	3.2.2 Germination media	33
3.3	Analytical methods using ¹³ C- and ¹⁵ N-isotopes	34
	3.3.1 Isotopes and isotopologues	34
	3.3.2 Reciprocal isotopic labelling	36
3.4	Using ¹³ C and ¹⁵ N-isotopes to measure uptake, assimilation, and	
	respiration	36
	3.4.1 Uptake	37
	3.4.2 Assimilation	37
	3.4.3 Respiration	38
4	Results and discussion	39
4.1	N uptake and assimilation in Norway spruce PEMs (Paper I)	39

4.2	Nitrogen utilization during germination of somatic embryos of Norway		
	spruce (Paper II)	40	
4.3	Impact of exogenously supplied GIn on C metabolism during proliferation		
	of Norway spruce PEMs (Paper III)	43	
4.4	Uptake of provided N sources	45	
	4.4.1 The inorganic N sources	45	
	4.4.2 The organic N source - Gln	46	
4.5	Assimilation of N and C	47	
4.6	GIn alleviates metabolic stress in PEMs	47	
5	Conclusions	51	
6	Future Perspectives	53	
References		55	
Popul	lar science summary	65	
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning		67	
Ackno	Acknowledgements		

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Carlsson, J., Svennerstam, H., Moritz, T., Egertsdotter, U., Ganeteg, U.* (2017). Nitrogen uptake and assimilation in proliferating embryogenic cultures of Norway spruce investigating the specific role of glutamine. *PLoS ONE*, vol 12 (8), e0181785. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181785
- II Carlsson, J., Egertsdotter, U., Ganeteg, U., Svennerstam, H.* (2018). Nitrogen utilization during germination of somatic embryos of Norway spruce - revealing the importance of supplied glutamine for nitrogen metabolism. (under revision for *Trees*)
- III Carlsson, J., Svennerstam, H.* The essential nature of exogenously supplied glutamine for Norway spruce somatic embryogenic cell culture. (Manuscript)

Paper I is reproduced under open access license CC-BY permission of the publisher.

* Corresponding author.

The contribution of Johanna Carlsson to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Carlsson contributed to the experimental design and had primary responsibility for planning and conducting the sampling, experimental work, and data analysis and had main responsibility for writing.
- II Carlsson had overall responsibility for the experimental design and planning of the study, and had primary responsibility for conducting the sampling, performing the experimental work, analysing the data, and writing the paper.
- III Carlsson contributed to the planning of the study, sample acquisition, data analysis, and writing.

Abbreviations

All abbreviations are explained when they first appear in the text.

1 Introduction

1.1 Forest ecosystems and forestry

Globally, forest ecosystems are renewable hubs used for numerous products and materials and consist of a diverse mixture of tree species from the two plant groups angiosperms and gymnosperms.

Angiosperms have traits such as an endosperm tissue within the seeds and the development of fruit bodies that contain the seeds, which distinguishes them from gymnosperms (Davis & Schaefer, 2011). The evolutionary separation between gymnosperms and angiosperms has been dated to around 300 ± 50 million years ago. Gymnosperms are a group of plant species with an ancient origin from the late Carboniferous geological period (358.9–298.9 million years ago) and were the group that dominated among land-living plants during the Mesozoic geological period, around 252 to 66 million years ago. Fascinatingly, gymnosperms have survived waves of extreme climate changes, which for other species living on the earth have led to mass extinction. Presently, four sub-lineages make up the group of gymnosperms – cycads, *Ginkgo*, gnetophytes, and conifers (reviewed in Wang & Ran, 2014).

In many countries today, forestry is an important sector contributing to biological, economic, and social values. There is a growing awareness of the need to think and act to increase the sustainability of our resources so that they can be used by future generations. In addition, rising awareness leads to the development of new sustainable management methods and forest-related products and at the same time leads to efforts to preserve biological and genetic diversity in the forests (Carnus et al., 2006; Lelu-Walter et al., 2013).

Sweden is one of the top five major export countries of forest products (e.g. paper, pulp and lumber). With forest covering of more than 50 % of the total land area, forests are of great value and forestry is one of the most important sectors for the Swedish economy. Around 80 % of the total standing volume on

productive forest land is represented by two conifers – the Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and the Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) – and the remaining volume consists of a mix of deciduous tree species and a few other non-native conifers (SLU, 2017). Therefore, if Swedish forestry shall continue to play a central role in the global forestry sector and the production of forest-related products, new areas including biotechnology, bioenergy, and building material need to be explored. In addition, advances to meet the strongly increasing demands for forest conservation and biodiversity are needed, work which has already been initiated within the tree breeding programmes.

1.2 Forest improvement by tree breeding

Forest tree breeding has a long history in Sweden, starting in the 1930s with the selection of plus trees (Eriksson et al., 2006). Selection of plus trees is the basis of forest tree breeding, which aims to improve the tree species traits and qualities, i.e. growth, disease resistance, or wood properties. Today, the tree breeding programmes are governed by the Forestry Research Institute of Sweden (Skogforsk). One of the greatest challenges for the breeding has been, and still is, to identify, prioritise, and select these traits. The breeding efforts must balance the plus tree selection considering features with huge prediction uncertainties such as future climate change and anthropological values of the forest. Furthermore, conifer tree breeding is also difficult because the breeding cycles spans over almost 20 years, which is a long period compared to agricultural crops (Eriksson et al., 2006; Prescher, 2007; Rosvall & Mullin, 2013).

1.2.1 Norway spruce seed orchards

From the plus tree selections used in the breeding programmes, grafts have been used for establishing seed orchards with the purpose of producing saleable seeds for seedling production in nurseries (Eriksson et al., 2006). Since the 1950s, when the first seed orchards were established, there have been two more rounds of seed orchard installations in Sweden, and the latest one (the third round), will be completed in 2018 (Remröd et al., 2003). This third round of seed orchards has been estimated to deliver seeds with around 25 % better gain compared to seeds collected from the local wild stand (Rosvall et al., 2003). The production of Norway spruce seedlings for forest regeneration in Sweden in 2016 and 2017 was around 170 and 200 million seedlings, respectively (Skogsstyrelsen, 2017; 2018). The drive for meeting the thriving and increasing demands for forest products is one of the reasons why seed orchards and propagation materials are still so important (Remröd et al., 2003; McKeand et al., 2006; Westin & Haapanen, 2013).

It is difficult to establish and manage Norway spruce seed orchards. First, it can take almost two decades for a new seed orchard to grow and mature to an age where the mother trees produce flowers (strobili) and subsequently cones containing seeds. Thus, seed orchards are always 20 years behind the latest improvements from the breeding programme. Second, the mature mother trees flower irregularly, about every 4 to 7 years (Lindgren et al., 1977; Crain & Cregg, 2018). Treatments such as the application of hormones (e.g. gibberellin; Almqvist, 2007), root pruning, and tree strangulation (for a review see e.g., Crain & Cregg, 2018) have shown promising results, with increased numbers of flowers during years when flowering occurs. However, direct treatments to initiate conifer flowering and the factors controlling flowering in Norway spruce have not been identified. Third, the seed orchards have been suffering from occasional outbreaks of pests (e.g. Dioryctria abietella and Eupithecia abietaria). In addition, during the last decade a fungus named Thekopsora areolata has destroyed huge amounts of the seed harvest (Almqvist & Rosenberg, 2016; Capador et al., 2018). These complications have, in combination, seriously affected the seed production and the seed supply for plant propagation (Almqvist et al., 2010;). Therefore, in addition to the necessity to propagate trees with enhanced traits for the forest sector, alternative techniques to maintain plant production for reforestation are required (Park, 2002; Nehra et al., 2005; Rosvall, 2011).

1.2.2 Vegetative plant propagation

The concept of vegetative propagation of forest plants has been debated longer than the acute problem with Norway spruce seed production has existed. This is mostly because vegetative propagation gives an opportunity for faster transfer of genetically valuable material from tree breeding to industrial forestry. Presently, vegetative propagation of plants via rooted cuttings is the most common method used to produce valuable genetic material (Park, 2002; Lelu-Walter et al., 2013). However, in Sweden this method has been used only on a very small scale, with seedlings originating from cuttings contributing to less than one per cent of the total plant production (Sonesson et al., 2001). Another form of vegetative propagation for large-scale plant production is the use of somatic embryogenesis (SE) (Park, 2002; Lelu-Walter et al., 2013). The method of SE (the development of a plant or embryo from somatic cells and not the germ cells) has shown great potential for the mass production of Norway spruce plants, although the method requires further technical development before it can be used on a large industrial scale (Park, 2002). The implementation of SE in conifer plant production and its advantages and disadvantages have previously been reviewed (Grossnickle et al., 1996; Park, 2002; Nehra et al., 2005; Andersson & Lindgren, 2011; Lelu-Walter et al., 2013). The reasons for using the specific process of SE are to multiply genetically important germplasm at a fast rate, to store valuable germplasm as embryogenic lines using cryopreservation until field tests are completed, and to provide an external monitoring tool for observing embryo development, which normally occurs in isolation within the seed. In combination, these uses benefit the forest industries by providing the flexibility to shift or including new tree breeding objectives and to quickly get the material out into the forest, as well as to supervise and maintain the genetic diversity.

The technique for large-scale propagation is costly, mainly due to the intensive manual labour required, and therefore there has been no real success in producing plantlets via SE. Even so, efforts are currently underway to develop a system combining liquid cultures for the multiplication of cell culture, an automated embryo-harvesting system, and a germination platform, which four Swedish forestry companies together with a biotech company have been aiming to industrialise to reduce production costs (personal communication, D. Pacurar¹). Hence, basic knowledge about all aspects of embryo development, e.g. nutritional needs, metabolic pathways, signalling pathways, etc., supports the goal of an entirely automated SE process.

1.3 Plant reproduction and embryogenesis

During their lifecycles, both gymnosperms and angiosperms alternate between the gametophyte stage (haploid; one inherited copy of each chromosome either from the mother or father) and the sporophyte stage (diploid; two copies of each chromosome, one from both parents), which is referred to as "an alternation of generations". Thus, the number of chromosomes is the principal difference between the two plant generations. Gymnosperms exist as sporophytes for much of their lifecycle, whereas the haploid generation only occurs during meiosis where the gametes (i.e. the cells involved in sexual reproduction) are produced. The beginning of a new plant life starts with the fusion of two gametes (a sperm and an egg), which generates a diploid zygote. The zygote develops into an embryo, and this developmental process in the embryo is called zygotic embryogenesis (ZE). There are dissimilarities between

¹ Daniel Pacurar, project leader for the SE automatization system at SweTree Technologies, Umeå.

angiosperm and gymnosperm embryogenesis regarding, for example, the formation and development of the embryos (see e.g. reviews by Raghavan & Sharma, 1995; Smertenko & Bozhkov, 2014; Winkelmann, 2016; and references therein). This thesis deals with Norway spruce, and therefore in the following sections I will focus on describing embryogenesis in gymnosperms with a special emphasis on conifers.

1.3.1 Conifer seed development - zygotic embryogenesis

Pollination

The pollen cone and the ovulate cone (megastrobilus) are the production sites of two types of spores, microspores and megaspores, respectively. From the microspore, pollen grains are matured and eventually sperm cells are formed. In the ovule, the megaspore develops in to a megagametophyte and eventually differentiates into the egg cell. Gymnosperms have the ability to produce multiple egg cells, referred to as archegonia. Pollen grains land the surface of the megastrobilus mostly via wind, and the pollen grain passes into the ovule through small microscopic holes on the seed surface called micropyles. Once inside the ovule, the pollen grain releases the sperm. Conifer sperm do not have flagella and are thus immobile, but the sperm can be transferred to and fused with the egg via a pollen tube that emerges from the pollen grain a few days up or weeks after the pollen grain entered the ovule. Subsequently, the zygotic embryo develops inside the ovule and a seed is formed (Owens et al., 1998; Raven et al., 2005).

After pollination

The embryogenesis of conifers after pollination is illustrated in Fig 1, which includes a detailed terminology of the process. Singh (1978) described and divided the process of embryogenesis in gymnosperms according to three phases:

i. Proembryogeny – all steps before the elongation of the suspensor.

ii. Early embryogeny – the steps throughout and after the elongation of the suspensor and until the formation of the root meristem.

iii. Late embryogeny – the steps including the formation of both the root and shoot meristem and the continued tissue development of the embryo.

Proembryogeny (i)

The phase of proembryogeny begins when the egg's nucleus divides and initially forms four free nuclei (i.e. plural for nucleus; the organelle in the cell containing most of the organism's DNA). After a number of cell divisions, in which the primary proembryo gradually separates into two primary layers (tiers) of cells, a basal embryo plan is formed. One tier is designated to form the embryo mass and later the body, and the upper tier will become the embryo-supporting arrangement, the suspensor (von Arnold & Clapham, 2008; Winkelman, 2016).

Early embryogeny (ii)

In the phase of early embryogeny, the embryonal mass is formed and the suspensor elongates. Common for species belonging to the *Pinaceae* family is the occurrence of cleavage polyembryogeny, i.e. the proembryo splits and multiple embryo masses arise. However, only one of the embryo masses will develop and become the seed embryo, and the other embryo masses will degenerate (Pullman & Bucalo, 2014). As an exception, tree species belonging to the *Picea* genus do not seem to have this polyembryogenic feature (Buchholz, 1942; Dogra, 1967).

Late embryogeny (iii)

In the final phase, late embryogeny, the basal and apical meristems in the embryonal mass start to form. The basal meristem will form the root and the apical meristem will form the shoot. Also, during embryo maturation the embryo suspensor undergoes programmed cell death (Smertenko & Bozhkov, 2014).



Fig 1. Illustration of the embryogenesis of conifers after pollination, i.e. the pollen enters the seed thru the micropyle. Primary upper tier, pU; primary embryonal tier, pE; upper tier, U; suspensor tier, S; embryo mass, EM; dysfunctional suspensor tier (Rosette tier), dS=R; embryonal suspensor tier, E_{xx} ; degenerating embryo mass, dEM; root organisation centre, ROC; secondary embryonal suspensor cells, sEs. Reproduced with permission from Ulrika Egertsdotter, Research Notes 52, doctoral thesis, 1996.

1.3.2 Embryo development in the laboratory

History

The embryo culture technique for propagating plants is over 100 years old and refers to the sterile cultivation of excised zygotic embryos in a nutrient medium with known supplements of chemical elements. The technique was initially performed using several species from the *Brassicaceae* family, where mature embryos were germinated into plantlets on a nutrient medium supplemented with sucrose (reviewed by Raghavan, 2003). Additionally, efforts in pursuing a way of propagating orchids via embryo culture techniques were made due to (i) restricted import of orchid plants, (ii) the desire to develop new hybrids, and (iii) the difficulties of successfully germinating orchid seeds. The small size of the seed makes it sensitive to abiotic and biotic factors such as fungi or algae competition and risk of seed dehydration (Knudson, 1922).

Sixty years ago, regeneration of a plant embryo from a single somatic cell was achieved in carrot (*Daucus carota*) (Steward et al., 1958), and more than thirty years later the first conifer somatic embryo (Chalupa, 1985; Hakman et al., 1985) was developed using the SE process (described in more detail in the following section).

Somatic embryogenesis

A somatic cell contains a complete number of chromosomes and is produced through the process of mitosis, i.e. the duplication of a cell.

The process of SE is the development of somatic embryos from somatic cells. However, the exact mechanism through which the transformation from a somatic cell to an embryonic cell occurs is not known. Plant somatic cells can be totipotent, i.e. the plant cell has the capacity to differentiate into any cell type (Verdeil et al., 2007). SE is commonly thought to be induced when totipotent somatic cells are subjected to high concentrations of the plant hormone auxin (Braybrook & Harada, 2008; Angoshtari et al., 2009) or to stress such as dehydration, temperature, or heavy metal ions (reviewed by Fehér et al., 2003).

SE in Norway spruce as a model system for research

The SE method can be divided into different developmental stages, from the pro-embryo to the plantlet (illustrated in Fig 2). For Norway spruce, the zygotic embryo is used for the induction of an embryogenic culture that is composed of pro-embryogenic masses (PEMs). The embryogenic culture is proliferated to produce PEMs, which are subsequently used for the propagation of SE plantlets

via early embryo differentiation and maturation followed by germination and plant formation (von Arnold et al., 2002; Pullman et al., 2003; von Arnold & Clapham, 2008).

For conifers, different standard SE protocols have been developed for different species and SE phases. The growth media used in SE contain nutrient additives, for example micro- and macro elements, vitamins, plant growth regulators, carbohydrates, osmotic compounds, and amino and/or organic acids (George & de Klerk, 2008). Early efforts in optimising culture media composition and growth conditions were of the "trial-and-error-approach", but these have contributed to advanced protocols for proliferation maintenance and for the production of mature somatic embryos (Bozhkov et al., 1993; Kaul & Hoffman, 1993; Pullman & Bucalo, 2014). Nonetheless how these additives influence the SE process is not completely understood and requires further study. Another approach for improving SE has been "learning from seeds", i.e. studying the biochemistry, physiology, physical environment, and gene expression patterns of zygotic embryos during development (Pullman & Bucalo, 2014; Winkelmann, 2016).

The similarities between conifer ZE and SE have been considered to be one of the most promising features for monitoring and studying embryo development. However, there is a major difference between the two types of embryogenesis; SE involves the proliferation of PEMs by supplying external plant growth regulators, whereas ZE takes place inside a seed coat surrounded by a nourishing tissue called the megagametophyte. Therefore, storage compound accumulation during embryo maturation in addition to the nutrients provided in the growth media is crucial and essential during the SE process (Hakman, 1993; Goldberg et al., 1994).



Fig 2. (a) The proliferation of somatic cells is induced from a zygotic embryo placed on a medium supplemented with the plant growth regulators (PGRs) auxin and cytokinin at room temperature and in darkness. (b) The initiated cell culture of PEMs. (c) Proliferating cell culture of PEMs maintained on medium including the same PGRs as used for initiation. The medium is exchanged every second to third week, which gives the possibility to multiply the cell culture at this phase. (d) For induction of embryo maturation, PEMs are moved to a pre-maturation medium for depletion of the remaining auxin and cytokinin and kept at room temperature and in darkness. The cell culture is transferred to a maturation medium supplemented with the PGR abscisic acid for the final development of mature somatic embryos. (e) It takes about 8-9 weeks for mature somatic embryos to develop. The embryos are harvested and normally undergo a period of desiccation before the last SE phase of germination. (f-g) The germination sometimes starts under low intensity light, which is gradually increased to higher light intensities. Somatic embryo germination is achieved on a medium without PGRs, and it takes generally around 6 weeks before the plantlet has a welldeveloped root and shoot capable of surviving the transition from the in vitro to ex vitro environment. (h) The plantlet is transplanted to a peat-based substrate and placed in a growth chamber for adaptation to non-sterile conditions and for further growth and development. (i) At this stage, the plantlet can be moved to a forest plant nursery where final acclimatisation for a life in the forest takes place.

1.4 Basis for plant growth and development

Essentially everything a plant requires completing its lifecycle is provided by light energy, carbon dioxide (CO_2) and the uptake of water and mineral nutrients. From these essential compounds, the plant can create all biomolecules needed for growth, development, and reproduction. A basic overview is illustrated in Fig 3.

1.4.1 Carbon

Carbon (C) is central to all known living organisms, and it is the fundamental element in all plant biochemistry and forms the backbone of numerous biomolecules, including carbohydrates, proteins, nucleic acids, and lipids (Ribas-Carbo et al., 2010).

Heterotrophs, e.g. animals, are organisms that need to consume other organisms to obtain C and energy, as opposed to autotrophs, e.g. plants, that use light energy to assimilate C from the air and to produce their own energy. This energy is generated via photosynthesis, assimilating C from CO_2 into the cell biochemistry, e.g. into sugars. Sugars can be metabolised to other biomolecules and can be used to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the energy currency of all organisms. The production of biomolecules and storage of energy in ATP is a two-step process, starting with glycolysis and ending with respiration. However, glycolysis can in principle run independently of respiration whereas respiration is dependent on substrates originating from glycolysis.

In the cell, glycolysis is a process that initially breaks down sugars to generate several C-metabolites and pyruvate, the primary substrate for the citric acid cycle – which is the hub for substrates used for the biosynthesis of, for example, amino acids (AAs), nucleic acids, and lipids – and for oxidative phosphorylation via the electron transport chain, i.e. production of energy, (Huppe & Turpin, 1994; Nunes-Nesi et al., 2010; Krasavina et al., 2014). After glycolysis, the substrate for respiration can enter the citric acid cycle either through direct transport into the mitochondria as the three-C molecule pyruvate or as malate, which after entering the mitochondria is converted back to pyruvate via malic enzyme (Koning, 1994; Wang et al., 2017). During respiration, the captured energy fixed in the chemical bonds of pyruvate is released through several oxidation steps in the citric acid cycle. The energy released in the citric acid cycle is transferred to three other molecules – nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH), flavin adenine dinucleotide, and ATP – which are more cell-suitable forms for the storage and transfer of energy.

In contrast to autotrophic plant tissues that can produce and store energy through photosynthesis and C assimilation via the Calvin cycle, heterotrophic SE culture systems are dependent on the addition of exogenous sugar for C and energy. In the early years of developing plant embryo culture, among the first factors investigated was the importance of sugars for efficient embryo growth (reviewed by Raghavan, 2003). Today, sugars (e.g. sucrose, fructose, maltose) are standard additives for *in vitro* applications, with sucrose being most commonly used (Yaseen et al., 2012).



Fig 3. Simplified overview of assimilation of N originating either from photorespiration, uptake from the soil solution, or from recycling of amino acids (AAs), via the GS/GOGAT pathway, the linking point to the assimilation of C from the glycolysis and citric acid cycle, and the further synthesis of AA used for production of biomolecules. nitrate reductase, NR; nitrite reductase, NiR; glutamine synthetase, GS; glutamate-2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase, GOGAT; malic enzyme, ME.

1.4.2 Nitrogen

Nitrogen (N) is a necessary component of many biomolecules, including proteins, DNA, and chlorophyll. Even though the atmosphere is rich in N (78 % dinitrogen gas, N₂), most living organisms cannot access N in this physical state, and therefore N is considered a limiting factor for growth in many ecosystems (Näsholm et al., 2009; Bernhard, 2010; Nunes-Nesi et al., 2010; Britto & Kronzucker, 2013; Nacry et al., 2013). Thus, N nutrition studies in plant research often aim at understanding key aspects of plant N use efficiency (NUE) in a restrictive environment, for instance the boreal zone and/or cold ecosystems. Several aspects of NUE, such as N uptake, metabolism, allocation, and remobilisation, have been extensively studied from molecular, biochemical, physiological, and ecological perspectives both in natural settings and in anthropic systems, i.e. in agricultural and forest management. Generally, such research shares a common goal to optimise plant NUE to increase yield and quality and to minimise the negative environmental impacts of N fertilisation (Masclaux-Daubresse et al., 2010; Britto & Kronzucker, 2013; Nacry et al., 2013).

There are two inorganic forms of N that are accessible to plants, nitrate (NO_3^-) and ammonium (NH_4^+) . Plants take up NO_3^- from the soil, and nitrite and NH_4^+ are produced via a two-step enzymatic reduction by the enzymes nitrate

reductase (NR) and nitrite reductase (NiR), respectively. This reduction is costly for the plants with respect to the energy required for the reactions (Lam et al., 1996; Krapp, 2015). Besides being an assimilation product of NO_3^- , plants can take up NH_4^+ directly from the soil. In photosynthetic tissues, NH_4^+ is also released as a by-product of photorespiration.

N uptake is often studied with respect to N source preference, which is defined as the N source taken up in the highest relative amounts or at the highest rates in different settings, or with respect to growth/yield parameters (Nacry et al., 2013). In addition, uptake of a N source can be influenced by so-called N repression, such as that described in the roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, where NO_3^- uptake has been shown to be repressed by the addition of external AAs, mainly by glutamine (Gln) (reviewed by Nacry et al., 2013; Gent & Forde, 2017, and references therein). Also, NH_4^+ uptake, transportation, and assimilation have been speculated to be regulated by other N sources (reviewed by Glass et al., 2002). Throughout this thesis, preference is defined as the N source contributing the most to the total N uptake and subsequent N assimilation into the free AA pool. It is therefore not necessarily the case that a preferred N source with respect to uptake is providing highest growth rates.

Assimilation of NH_{4^+} into primary AA metabolism occurs via the enzymatic pathway of glutamine synthetase/glutamate-2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase (GS/GOGAT). In the GS/GOGAT pathway, NH_{4^+} is incorporated into the two AAs glutamate (Glu) and Gln (Lea & Ireland, 1999; Forde & Lea, 2007), and together these two AAs represent the core of AA metabolism.

In angiosperms, AA metabolism is governed by the production of Glu and Gln in the chloroplasts of photosynthetic cells, which is controlled by the GS2/Fd-GOGAT cycle. Beside the plastid GS2 enzyme, the GS1 enzyme has been found in the cytosol (McNally et al., 1983; Ireland & Lea, 1999). For conifers, the only identified enzyme is GS1, but it has been found to exist in two isoforms, GS1a and GS1b. Both GS1a and GS1b have been found in the cytosol, but linked to photosynthetic and non-photosynthetic cells in different tissues, suggesting that the two isoforms have the same roles as the angiosperm GS1 and GS2. The gene expression of the two isoforms has been observed at different phases during *Pinus* embryogenesis (Cantón et al., 1999; Avila Sáez et al., 2000; Avila et al., 2001; Pérez Rodríguez et al., 2006; Cánovas et al., 2007).

An alternative way by which NH_{4^+} may be assimilated is via glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH), which converts α -ketoglutarate and NH_{4^+} into Glu, and this reaction is reversible. However, it is not clear whether GDH contributes to N assimilation or under which conditions the enzyme carries out assimilation of NH_{4^+} . GDH in plants has a K_m for NH_{4^+} ranging from 10 to 80 mM (Stewart et al., 1980), inferring that the cellular levels of NH_{4^+} must be very high for the

reaction to run in the assimilatory direction. A study following the assimilation of isotopically labelled NO_3^- and NH_4^+ in rice coleoptiles under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions suggested, based on the labelling pattern, that NH_4^+ assimilation mostly occurred via the GS/GOGAT pathway, whereas NO_3^- assimilation (following nitrate reduction to NH_4^+) could operate via GDH (Fan et al., 1997). Additionally, GDH has also been proposed to have a role of supporting the supply of C for the citric acid cycle through the deamination of Glu during C limiting conditions e.g. in darkness (Robinson et al., 1992; Aubert et al., 2001; Miflin & Habash, 2002). However, the general consensus is that the main role of GDH is to deaminate Glu, i.e. NH_4^+ release (for reviews see e.g. Dubois et al., 2003; Forde & Lea, 2007; Masclaux-Daubresse et al., 2010).

Beside the inorganic N sources available in the soil, there is also a considerable pool of organic N in the soil, including compounds such as free AAs, peptide-bound and protein-bound AAs, and organic acids. Over the last two-decade attention has been given to the aspect of plant organic N uptake from the soil (see the review by, e.g. Näsholm et al., 2009; Tegeder & Masclaux-Daubresse, 2018) and several transporters involved in AA uptake from the soil have been identified in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, e.g. lysine histidine transporter 1 (Hirner et al., 2006; Svennerstam et al., 2007), lysine histidine transporter 6 (Perchlik et al., 2014), amino acid permease 1 (Lee et al., 2007), and amino acid permease 5 (Svennerstam et al., 2008). Subsequent incorporation of AAs taken up into the N metabolism is suggested to occur through a series of transamination reactions rather than de-amination reactions (Persson et al., 2006; reviewed by Näsholm et al., 2009).

Both inorganic and organic N are commonly added to *in vitro* growth media (Bozhkov et al., 1993; George & de Klerk, 2008; Pullman & Bucalo, 2014). Historically, adding single or mixed AAs to growth media has its origin in a growth performance study of barley (Hordeum vulgare) embryos, showing increased dry mass and N content after the addition of various organic N compounds (reviewed by Raghavan, 2003). Growth media for many in vitro applications, including SE, are designed to provide ample amounts of each nutrient without the interaction of microbes and fungi found in soil systems. Media for SE have historically been optimised mainly using a trial-and-errorapproach (as previously mentioned in section 1.3.2, sub-section SE in Norway spruce as a model system for research). This led to the observed positive effects of organic N on SE for several species and different tissues (Kirby, 1982; Bozhkov et al., 1993; Pinto et al., 1993; Khlifi & Tremblay, 1995; Ogita et al., 2001; Vasudevan et al., 2004; Hamasaki et al., 2005; Pescador et al., 2012). However, these studies did not always aim to determine the possible underlying mechanisms and the physiology behind these observations.

Casein hydrolysate (CH) and/or Gln are commonly used as organic N sources for different stages of the SE process (Bozhkov et al., 1993; Barret et al., 1997; Pescador et al., 2012; Llébres et al., 2018), but it is not known why organic N is such a good supplement in these tissue culture systems. This suggests that further research and optimisation of, for example, N composition might be required for a more thorough understanding of N metabolism in plants grown *in vitro*. The emphasis of this thesis has therefor been on the role of Gln, a molecule with both assimilated N and C, during Norway spruce SE.

2 Aim and objectives

The aim of this thesis was to support the forest plant industry by contributing basic knowledge about a technique with the potential for large-scale Norway spruce plant propagation at a time when the seed orchards are facing lethal problems with pests and pathogens. Increased knowledge of C and N utilization during different stages of SE in Norway spruce is necessary in order to develop improved and cost-efficient methods for SE plantlet propagation.

With the specific aim of investigating the role of Gln in the process of SE, my work has been focused on the following objectives:

• To provide additional insights into N nutrition during the proliferation of PEMs and the germination of somatic embryos, with an emphasis on the uptake of different N sources and the subsequent incorporation of these sources into AA metabolism.

• To further our understanding of the importance of the C in Gln for the synthesis of biomolecules, energy production, and the link to N metabolism in PEMs.

• To investigate the C and N budget of germinating somatic embryos of Norway spruce and to determine the importance of stored versus C and N supplied in the medium during the germination phase.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Reasons to study in vitro-grown plants

Experimental plant research is often, by necessity, performed under highly controlled environmental conditions, often with fixed parameters such as light intensity, day/night rhythm, and temperature. Results obtained from such experiments are not necessarily relevant for plants growing in natural ecosystems where the plants experience, among other things, weather changes, seasonal variations, and competition for resources. To determine how the results from in vitro experiments should be interpreted, and to what extent the results are relevant for natural conditions, is thus a major challenge. This is especially important to take into consideration when studying in vitro-grown plants because they have been kept under restricted and controlled growing conditions and have not experienced a natural environment. However, there are situations where studies of plants grown in vitro are required, and research fields and applications that use in vitro-grown plants include, for example, visualisation of plant morphology, tissue sampling, large-scale screening experiments and conservation of plant biodiversity (Engelmann, 2011; Reis et al., 2017; Tikkinen et al., 2018).

This thesis deals with C and N nutrition during Norway spruce SE, which is performed under sterile *in vitro* conditions. Previous studies have reported that the *ex vitro* growth performance of SE plantlets is affected by maturation treatments with, for example, polyethylene glycol and abscisic acid (Bozhkov and von Arnold, 1998; Högberg et al., 2001) and different light conditions during germination (Kvaalen & Appelgren, 1999; von Aderkas et al., 2015). Therefore, it is highly desirable to gain as much knowledge about the *in vitro* process as possible to increase the survival rate of the embryos and their performance upon transfer to natural conditions in greenhouses, in nurseries, and in forest settings.

3.2 Composition of growth media

The medium composition was a crucial aspect of the experimental set-ups used in this study. Choosing a medium might seem a trivial task because there are many reports in the literature aiming at developing culture protocols for optimum growth performance in areas such as initiation success, proliferation rate, and number of mature somatic embryos (George & de Klerk, 2008; Pullman & Bucalo, 2014). Consequently, the selection of experimental media must be made with consideration because the medium composition determines which questions can be asked and what conclusions can be drawn. For example, both the total amount and the proportions of supplied nutrients highly influence SE performance. Nutrients are often supplied as salts, which consist of more than one ion, thus it is important to avoid artefacts from, for example, too high of an ion concentration or an ion imbalance, which might be caused when trying to achieve ion ratio regulation (George & de Klerk, 2008; Niedz & Evens, 2008).

Therefore, the media used for the studies in this thesis were designed to enable studies of different SE phases and of tissues grown on different C and N sources and to minimize artefacts resulting from changes in the concentrations of other ions.

3.2.1 Proliferation media

The proliferation media used in the studies were designed to enable the comparison of PEM growth on different N sources and different N concentrations, as well as to enable the assessment of the relative importance of the different N sources, i.e. measuring the relative uptake of each N source and to what extent each N source is assimilated into the primary pool of total free AAs (**paper I**). The media also contain two C sources – sucrose and Gln – that can be taken up by PEMs and be assimilated into the free AA pool and enter the citric acid cycle (**paper III**) to produce metabolites that can be used as substrates for respiration.

The standard medium chosen for proliferation, also referred to as ½-LP (von Arnold & Eriksson, 1981), has been successfully used in the past for proliferation of Norway spruce PEMs. Choosing a previously studied medium (for PEMs) as a starting point facilitates comparison of previously obtained data. The media compositions of supplied N and C sources, including total N concentration and relative proportions of the N sources used in **papers I** and **III** are illustrated in Fig 4. Thus, in **paper I**, growing PEMs on PM#1 or PM#2 and on PM#3, PM#4, or PM#5 allowed for a comparison of PEM performance growing on the same N species but with different total N content. It also allowed for the comparison of PEM performance on PM#2 and PM#3, i.e. media with

the same total N content but with different N sources (i.e. only inorganic N sources in PM#2, whereas PM#3 contained both inorganic N and Gln N). Thus, this comparison gave an assessment of the importance of a specific N source rather than the total amount N given.

In **paper III**, comparing PM#1 (only sucrose as the C supplement) to PM#3 (both sucrose and Gln as the C supplements) enabled the investigation of Gln as a source of C and energy.



Fig 4. Experimental proliferation media compositions with inorganic and organic N – including fractions of the N sources in the form of NO_{3^-} (yellow), NH_{4^+} (blue), and Gln (orange) – and supplied C sources used in **paper I** and **III**.

3.2.2 Germination media

As mentioned earlier in the introduction, a mix of organic N, such as CH, is commonly supplied to *in vitro* growth media. CH is a mixture of AAs, and depending on whether the CH is added to the medium before autoclaving or after autoclaving (sterile filtered), part of the N in CH might be present as NH₄⁺ (e.g. as the result of AA degradation during autoclaving). One goal of this study was to use ¹⁵N-labelled N sources to trace the uptake and assimilation of N from the different N sources provided. Obtaining ¹⁵N-labelled CH would have been challenging, if not impossible, and very costly. In addition, even if obtaining ¹⁵N-CH would have been possible, it would be impossible to determine the origin of each ¹⁵N molecule taken up and further assimilated because CH is a mix of different N sources. Therefore, to enable this experiment, Gln was used instead of CH. To ensure that this change did not cause any unwanted effects on

germination, a small pilot study was performed comparing germination on media containing CH or Gln. No detrimental effects were observed from using Gln instead of CH.

In addition, Gln was chosen as the organic N source to test the hypothesis that Gln would be a preferred N source (as in **paper I**) and to assess whether Gln would have a similar importance for relieving metabolic constraints as suggested by the remarkably high level of alanine (Ala) present in the PEMs (**paper I**).

3.3 Analytical methods using ¹³C- and ¹⁵N-isotopes

This work was largely based on analytical methods using ¹³C- and ¹⁵N- isotopes, which are described here in the following sections.

3.3.1 Isotopes and isotopologues

Without going deeply into the chemistry and physics, a molecule consists of atoms attached to each other by chemical bonds. An atom is the smallest unit of matter and is made up of three particles – protons, neutrons, and electrons. The average mass of all the particles in the whole molecule is considered to be the molecular mass or molecular weight. An isotope of a compound has equal numbers of protons but not the same number of neutrons, and therefore different isotopes of a compound have different mass numbers (total numbers of protons and neutrons). Natural abundance is the relative amount of each possible isotope in a natural sample; for instance, the natural abundances of ¹³C and ¹⁵N are 1.06 % and 0.37 %, respectively (Meija et al., 2016). Hence, the average molecular mass of Gln, which has five C, ten hydrogen (H), two N, and three oxygen (O) atoms (Fig 5a) includes the natural abundance of ¹³C, ²H, ¹⁵N, and ¹⁸O isotopes. Therefore, it is possible to have different forms of, for example, isotopically labelled ¹⁵N-Gln (Fig 5b-d).

Consequently, molecules can have the same molecular formula and structure but a diverse isotopic composition through the exchange of one or several atoms with an isotope or isotopes, and these are known as isotopologues. The monoisotopic mass and the isotopologues (m^{+1} , m^{+2} , etc.) illustrated in Fig 6 can be separated and detected with mass spectrometry techniques. For example, the actual monoisotopic mass of Gln is 146.0691 g⁻¹ mol, and if Gln contains one or two ¹⁵N atoms, the isotopologues would then be detected as 147.0662 g⁻¹ mol (m^{+1}) or 148.0632 g⁻¹ mol (m^{+2}), respectively. These isotopologues will thus have different properties that can be used for separation between the monoisotopic mass (the mass of the most abundant isotope, which in Fig 6 would be ¹⁴N) and other isotopic peaks.



Fig 5. The molecular structure of Gln (a). The structures of three different forms of isotopically labelled 15 N-Gln, indicated by the dark pink 15 N atom (b–d).



Fig 6. A hypothetical chromatograph mass spectrum, including the monoisotopic peak of a molecule and two isotopologue peaks $(m^{+1} \text{ and } m^{+2})$ indicated by the dark pink text.

3.3.2 Reciprocal isotopic labelling

A nutrient such as Gln provided in a growth medium will mainly contain ¹⁴N atoms. Using media supplemented with isotopically labelled ¹⁵N-Gln enables the calculation of the mass fraction discrepancy of the exchanged source (or sources) with its isotopic source without changing the medium composition.

In this work, the replacement of molecules containing a certain isotope (in **papers I** and **II** ¹⁴N, and in **paper III** ¹²C) with a molecule containing another isotope (in **papers I** and **II** ¹⁵N, and in **paper III** ¹³C) is called "reciprocal isotopic labelling" (Fig 7), and this makes it possible to study the origin of a specific atom by separating it from a molecular source in an environment where the atom exists in several sources.

For instance, in a hypothetical growth medium, N atoms originate from four different molecules containing N (Fig 7a), and these N sources are then reciprocally labelled in four different medium aliquots (Fig 7b-e). The medium composition remains unchanged with respect to N concentration and the relative amounts of each N source and total N content, but the shift in atom mass in the different media enables calculations of different isotopologues.



Fig 7. Illustration of a theoretical medium containing four different sources of N (a) and how the four N sources are reciprocally labelled, indicated by pink ¹⁵N atom (b–e). The medium composition remains unchanged with respect to the relative amounts of each N source and the total N concentration.

3.4 Using ¹³C and ¹⁵N-isotopes to measure uptake, assimilation, and respiration

In the absence of the megagametophyte during cultivation of somatic embryos, the SE culture conditions must resemble the natural seed in terms of nutrient compositions and plant growth regulators. Optimised culture practices are therefore very important for the development of somatic embryos of good quality and in large quantities. Hence, the focus in this work was directed towards C and N utilisation during different stages of SE in Norway spruce to study the contribution of C and N taken up from the medium into the biomass and then tracing C and N into the primary metabolism via assimilation.

3.4.1 Uptake

Plants take up nutrients mainly by the roots via i) simple diffusion, ii) passive transport, or iii) active transport (reviewed by, for example, White, 2012). Studies of nutrient uptake in *in vitro* culture systems provide an overview of how the growing tissue consumes the provided resources by measuring the uptake of specific C and N sources in the presence of all available sources in the growth medium. Uptake studies can be designed in different ways, and short-term incubation with isotopically labelled N sources will reflect gross uptake, i.e. total amount taken up, whereas long-term incubation provides an efflux component because the labelled N sources can be recycled in different pathways and N atoms might be released back into the medium. In addition, measuring uptake by analysing remaining N containing compounds in the medium, so called depletion experiments, will reflect net uptake.

Analysis of C and N using elemental analyser isotope ratio mass spectrometry (EA-IRMS) generates mass fraction data of atoms and both ${}^{13}C/{}^{12}C$ and ${}^{15}N/{}^{14}N$ ratios. These data can be used to calculate the amount of total C and N and how much isotopic ${}^{13}C$ and ${}^{15}N$ have been taken up by the tissue (after the subtraction of the natural abundance).

3.4.2 Assimilation

To contribute to growth, the N taken up must be assimilated into AA metabolism (Ortiz-Lopez et al., 2000). To support growth, either as a C-backbone or as an energy source, the C that is taken up must be metabolised in the glycolysis pathway, in which C can be released as CO₂ through respiration (generating energy) or incorporated into core N and C metabolism by providing substrates for the citric acid cycle and for biosynthesis of, for example, AAs (Huppe & Turpin, 1994; Nunes-Nesi et al., 2010; Krasavina et al., 2014).

Both combined liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analyses generate chromatographic and mass spectral data, including isotopologue information (Fig 6). This allows for the calculation of ¹³C-labelled or ¹⁵N-labelled

metabolites in a sample. However, to be able to perform the calculation, the sample material needs to grow on both non-labelled and isotopically labelled medium because the natural abundance of the isotope must be subtracted for every single molecule examined.

In all three papers presented in this work, LC-MS was used for targeted AA profiling. In addition, in **paper III**, GC-MS was used for analysing citric acid cycle metabolites.

3.4.3 Respiration

The energy requirements of a plant cell are mainly fulfilled by the energy produced during respiration and the electron transport chain, as described in the introduction section 1.4.1. Therefore, CO₂ respiration measurements can be used as a way of investigating tissue metabolic activity (Gonzalez-Meler et al., 2004). In the proliferation medium, the most abundant C source is sucrose, but given the possibility that Gln can also contribute as a source of C, the study performed in **paper III** was designed to investigate the relative contribution of these C sources, ¹³C-labeled sucrose and Gln were added to PEM cultures, and the respiration output was analysed for the delta ¹³C of CO₂ output, i.e. the fraction of ¹³CO₂ versus ¹²CO₂.

4 Results and discussion

4.1 N uptake and assimilation in Norway spruce PEMs (Paper I)

The studies in **paper I** aimed to increase our understanding of N nutrition in Norway spruce PEMs, with a special focus on the PEM uptake capacity of different N sources and the subsequent assimilation of these N sources into the free AA pool. Two hypotheses were formulated. The first was that the previously observed positive growth effect of Gln (Kirby, 1982; Bozhkov et al., 1993; Pinto et al., 1993; Khlifi & Tremblay, 1995; Ogita et al., 2001; Vasudevan et al., 2004; Hamasaki et al., 2005; Pescador et al., 2012) is due to the N species that is added rather than to an increase in the total N concentration. The second, based on previous studies showing that conifers preferentially take up AAs and NH₄⁺ (Marschner et al., 1991; Kamminga-van Wijk & Prins, 1993; Kronzucker et al., 1996, 1997; Gessler et al., 2006; Miller & Hawkins, 2007; Metcalfe et al., 2011; Gruffman et al., 2013, 2014), was that the increased growth effect results from different uptake and utilisation capacities of the single N forms.

The goal was to trace ¹⁵N in both the tissue and in free AAs, reflecting the uptake preference and assimilation capacity of the different N sources, respectively. This was achieved by designing the proliferation media as described in section 3.1.1, thus allowing for a comparison of PEMs grown on different total N concentrations and on different exogenously supplied N sources. The studies were performed in combination with the reciprocal set-up explained in section 3.2.2 supplying the growth medium with N sources labelled with the stable ¹⁵N isotope.

The findings in **paper I** showed that PEMs grown with only inorganic N had significantly lower concentrations of free AAs, less biomass (Fig. 1, **paper I**), and visual signs of an unhealthy culture as compared to PEMs grown on Gln

supplied in the medium, which had a 15-fold higher concentration of total free AAs (Fig. 2, **paper I**), greater biomass, and visual signs of a healthy culture.

The study also confirmed the hypothesis that the growth effect is due to N source rather than an increase in total N concentration because addition of Gln had a more positive effect on growth than addition of corresponding amounts of inorganic N. The second hypothesis was also confirmed, that PEMs have a controlled N uptake with a preference for Gln over NH_4^+ and NO_3^- . In addition to confirming the two hypotheses, an additional observation about assimilation was made, showing that out of the total amount of assimilated N in the free AA pool, 64 % originated from Gln, 25 % originated from NH_4^+ , whereas only 11 % originated from NO_3^- (Fig. 5, **paper I**).

For PEMs grown with exogenously supplied Gln, all added N sources were found to be assimilated into the free AA pool, but the contribution of the different N sources to the total N assimilation was not equal nor reflecting the fraction of provided N sources. This is indicative of active N metabolism, with functional NR, NiR, GS, and GOGAT enzymes, even though there seems to be a restriction on the NO_3^- assimilation enzymes. The assimilation of NH_4^+ -N represents a greater fraction of the total N assimilated as compared to the fraction of NH_4^+ taken up, and this suggests the presence of an active GS enzyme and a functional GS/GOGAT pathway. An alternate way of assimilating NH_4^+ into the AA pool is via GDH, but as described in the introduction section 1.4.2, GDH is considered to be mainly involved in Glu catabolism. Although it cannot be ruled out, it is unlikely that GDH makes a major contribution to NH_4^+ assimilation.

As a final observation, exogenously supplied Gln also alleviated the seemingly inadequate AA metabolism of PEMs grown in the presence of only inorganic N sources, as evidenced by the reduced biomass growth of PEMs and the low concentration of free AAs in PEMs grown without Gln supplied in the media as compared to PEMs grown with Gln supplied in the media. Because remarkably high concentrations of Ala were observed in PEMs grown in the presence of Gln (Fig. 3, **paper I**), this suggest that Ala biosynthesis was involved in alleviating these metabolic constraints (see also below, section 4.3, **Paper III**, and section 4.6).

4.2 Nitrogen utilization during germination of somatic embryos of Norway spruce (Paper II)

The germination stage is one of the bottlenecks for Norway spruce SE. To what extent stored versus supplied nutrients contribute to growth and development has not been extensively studied, which makes it difficult to optimise germination medium with respect to nutrient content. Therefore, a deeper knowledge of the importance of C and N utilisation during somatic embryo germination is required. The studies in **paper II** were therefore performed to investigate the C and N budget for germinating somatic embryos of Norway spruce and to increase our understanding of N nutrition during germination. Two main aims were formulated – (i) to examine the importance of stored C and N versus C and N in the medium, and (ii) to characterise N metabolism in terms of N uptake and assimilation. Based on the findings regarding N uptake and assimilation in PEMs (**paper I**), a hypothesis was formulated that Gln is a significant N contributor to AA metabolism.

Similar to **paper I**, the goal with the experimental set-up in **paper II** was to study uptake preference and assimilation of the different N sources by tracing the ¹⁵N into tissues and the assimilation of ¹⁵N into free AAs. The differences from **paper I**, were i) the germination medium as explained in section 3.1.2, ii) the sampling was carried out over 24 days at five different time points, and iii) the light condition was set to low intensity red light to limit photosynthesis and promote root development. This set-up also had the advantage that it was possible to distinguish between C originating from the embryo and the medium because C from CO_2 fixation was minimised.

The germinant fresh biomass was found to increase throughout the study period, and the fresh weight increased 8-fold between day 1 and day 24 of germination. The germinant dry biomass was 3.5 times higher after 24 days of germination as compared to the initial mature somatic embryo starting weight. The fresh weight/dry weight ratio was lowest at day 1, and thereafter it increased and reached the highest observed ratio day 12, and then the ratio declined somewhat until day 24 (Table 2, **paper II**). The increased fresh biomass and low fresh weight/dry weight ratio found early in the study would suggest rehydration because the somatic embryos were coming from a desiccation treatment before they were placed on germination medium.

Measuring uptake of nutrients can provide an overview of nutrient utilisation, and C and N concentrations in a plant (% w/w) are considered to be a representation of the overall C and N status of the plant. The C concentration in the germinant was reduced from 57 % at day 1 to 46 % at day 12 and remained stable between days 12 and 24 (Fig. 1a, **paper II**). The initially measured relatively high C concentration suggests that a considerable part of the C stored in the mature somatic embryo is in the form of lipids, which is the only group of biomolecules to have such concentrated amounts of C (Schmid & Ohlrogge, 2002). The stabilized C concentration observed between days 12 and 24 thus suggests that the storage lipids have been consumed and re-synthesised into other biomolecules with a relatively higher H, O, and N content. The C content on the other hand, increased 2.6 times overall during the 24-day study period, but day 6 to day 12 no changes in biomass development were seen. Morphological changes were observed by imaging between day 6 and 12, and during this time the somatic embryos developed into a shape more resembling a seedling structure with distinct root and shoot parts. Why there was a standstill in C increase cannot be determined from this study, but one possible reason for this observation might be developmental processes linked with greater respiration, i.e. CO_2 release.

The study found increasing N concentration after 6 days of germination but no further change between days 12 and 24. The germinant had a pattern of increasing N content similar to the C content, but without the standstill between days 6 and 12. The uptake data also showed that already after 3 days more than 25 % of the total N content in the germinating somatic embryos originated from the N sources supplied in the medium. However, after 24 days 90 % of the total N taken up originated from N supplied in the medium.

In addition, the UPLC-UV and LC-MS analysis confirmed the hypothesis that Gln-N would be a significant contributor to the TFAA pool of a Norway spruce somatic embryo during the first stages of germination because 50 % of the assimilated N found in the germinants originated from exogenously supplied Gln (Fig. 4, **paper II**), thus being a significant N contributor.

Unlike the observation of high levels of Ala in **paper I**, this study did not find any unusually high levels of AAs related to metabolic stress pathways. Despite this, data from the LC-MS analysis showed an alternation of the assimilation pattern in the germinants over time, with the Gln:arginine (Arg) assimilation ratio decreasing from 2.7 at day 3 of germination to 1.5 at day 24, implying that the germinants were mobilising their N metabolism towards synthesising AAs with a high N to C ratio (Fig. 3 and Table S3, paper II). In line with the observation in **paper II**, increased concentrations of free Arg, Glu, and Gln have previously been reported for conifers as a result of hydrolyzation of storage compounds during seed germination (Gifford & Tolley 1989; King & Gifford 1997; reviewed by Cánovas et al. 2007). A hypothesis based on those results is that Norway spruce somatic embryos growing under red light accumulate N-rich AAs as a form of N storage until light conditions change, at which time hydrolyzation of storage reserves is required to facilitate photosynthesis. However, additional studies under white light are essential to confirm this.

Because mature somatic embryos lack the nutritious megagametophyte tissue, it is not surprising that the nutrition supplied by the medium is important during *in vitro* germination. Thus, the findings in **paper II** show that germinating somatic embryos under low-intensity red light conditions are highly

dependent on the nutrients provided in the medium for their growth and development.

4.3 Impact of exogenously supplied GIn on C metabolism during proliferation of Norway spruce PEMs (Paper III)

The findings in **paper I** – showing that Gln supplied in the medium was the main source of N and relieved metabolic constraints – motivated the studies carried out in **paper III** investigating aspects of energy, respiration, and metabolic constraints during PEM proliferation. The first two hypotheses were that exogenously supplied Gln would contribute with i) an already assimilated source of C for biomass production and ii) energy production through the respiration of α -ketoglutarate. The third hypothesis was that Gln is essential for PEM metabolism by relieving unidentified metabolic constraints.

The experimental set up in **paper III**, in contrast to the other two papers, had the goal to follow ¹³C-labelled sucrose and Gln into the biomass, AAs, and energy-related metabolism. The medium used for proliferation was the same as **paper I**, as described in section 3.1.1, as well as the use of reciprocal labelling (explained in section 3.2.2). However, the interpretation of the pulse-chase labelling data in **paper III** was complex. The ratio of Gln:sucrose C in the standard medium was approximately 1:23. For the pulse-chase experiment, a ratio of 1:1 was used to ensure that Gln derived ¹³C would be detectable in the compounds analysed. Consequently, the contribution of Gln C supplied in the medium to AAs and citric acid metabolites could be over-estimated if only looking at the processed data and figures.

In **paper III**, the exogenously supplied C sources' contributions to PEM C content were found to be 4.1 ± 0.2 % for Gln and 95.9 ± 0.8 % for sucrose, indicating that Gln is not important as a source of C for biomass production.

Moreover, although respiration experiments showed that Gln was functional as a respiration substrate for PEMs (Fig. 1, **paper III**), the amount of exogenously supplied Gln available in standard medium would not be great enough to represent a significant substrate for respiration. More importantly, Gln supplied in the medium was found to increase the PEMs' ability to respire C from sucrose supplied in the medium (Fig. 2, **paper III**). This finding suggests that the PEMs are experiencing some form of stress or metabolic constraint that is relieved by Gln.

The AA profile obtained in this study showed that PEMs grown in the presence of exogenously supplied Gln generally had a significantly higher level of AAs, and a particularly higher concentration of Ala, findings that are in line with the results presented in **paper I**. However, there was no significant difference between the concentrations of tissue Gln in PEMs grown with or without Gln supplied in the medium (Fig. 3, **paper III**). This suggest that the internal Gln pool is consumed by metabolic processes, with one being Ala biosynthesis given its great abundance and that Ala-N was mainly derived from Gln-N taken up from the medium, as mentioned earlier in section 4.1 (**paper I**) and further discussed below in section 4.6.

The dominating source of Ala-C was sucrose and the predominant accumulation of ¹³C in the Ala⁺³ isotopologue (Table S2, **paper III**) strongly suggests that Ala was produced from pyruvate (having three C atoms) directly after glycolysis via the enzyme alanine aminotransferase (AlaAT). Given the findings of **paper I**, the primary Ala N-donor is primarily Gln-derived Glu.

The high accumulation of Gln derived C in the GABA⁺⁴ isotopologue (Table S2, **paper III**) is indicative of an active GABA-shunt, also suggesting a direct connection between exogenously supplied Gln C and the synthesis of GABA. However, on standard medium, where the concentration of Gln supplied in the medium is much lower than in the pulse-chase experiment, the GABA C backbone could be predominantly sucrose derived.

The data generated via GC-MS analysis, tracing sucrose C and Gln C into five citric acid cycle metabolites; citrate, α -ketoglutarate, succinate, fumarate, and malate, is presented as peak areas of ¹³C excess (Fig. 5, **paper III**). Absolute concentrations were not measured, and consequently the only comparison of metabolite abundance possible is between treatments, and not with other metabolites. Unfortunately, pyruvate could not be analysed with the GC-MS method that was used, and this made the interpretation of the data more difficult. The GC-MS data showed that the capacity of PEMs to metabolise Gln-derived C was not affected by the absence or presence of exogenously supplied Gln. However, the presence of Gln in the growth medium did significantly increase the levels of sucrose C in three of the five metabolites – citrate, succinate, and malate. The absolute amount of malate also increased in response to medium amended with Gln. This suggest that malate is accumulating due to increased biosynthesis and/or decreased turn-over when Gln is supplied in the medium.

The combination of respiration experiments and GC-MS analysis in **paper III** showed that Gln supplied in the medium has a profound positive effect on sucrose metabolism, something that also translates into significantly improved growth (**paper I**). The targeted AA profiling clearly demonstrates the presence of two stress-related metabolic pathways – the sucrose-driven AlaAT pathway and the GABA shunt – both of which are dependent on Gln-derived Glu as substrate.

4.4 Uptake of provided N sources

4.4.1 The inorganic N sources

In the medium composition used in both **paper I** and **II**, NO₃⁻ was the most abundant N source during the proliferation and germination phases. However, both studies found that NO₃⁻ was the N source least utilized, i.e. the fraction of total NO₃⁻-N taken up (Fig. 4, **paper I**, and Fig. 2, **paper II**) was smaller than that provided in the medium, and the fraction of NO₃⁻-N assimilated into the free AA pool was smaller than the fraction taken up as NO₃⁻ (Fig. 5, **paper I**, and Fig. 4, **paper II**). This agrees with studies of conifers in natural conditions, which have been shown to have a preference for NH₄⁺ (Marschner et al., 1991; Kamminga-van Wijk & Prins, 1993; Kronzucker et al., 1996, 1997; Gessler et al., 1998; Malagoli et al., 2000; Öhlund & Näsholm, 2004; Miller & Hawkins, 2007) and AAs (Öhlund & Näsholm, 2001, 2004; Persson et al., 2003, 2006; Metcalfe et al., 2011; Gruffman et al., 2013, 2014) compared to NO₃⁻.

Another reason for the observed low NO₃⁻ uptake in PEMs and germinating somatic embryos of Norway spruce could be that there are constraints for uptake and/or subsequent assimilation, e.g. due to regulation of NO₃⁻ transporters and/or enzymes in the assimilation pathway. There are some reports in the literature regarding the characteristics of NO₃⁻ transporters in developing embryos, including those involved in NO₃⁻-N transport and those involved in N accumulation and storage (Chopin et al., 2007; Almagro et al., 2008; Léran et al., 2015). For conifers, high-affinity NO₃⁻ transporters (NRT2/NRT3) have been identified in pine roots and have been proposed to play a key role in the uptake and transportation of exogenously accessible NO₃⁻-N (Castro-Rodríguez et al., 2016, 2017). Wang et al. (2012) summarised the identified NO₃⁻ transporters for *Arabidopsis thaliana* and their physiological functions and regulations, and they showed that NO₃⁻ transporters are regulated by, for example, levels of NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺, limitations on the total N concentration, light intensity, sucrose, and diurnal rhythm.

In **papers I** and **II**, i.e. for both PEMs and germinants, NH_4^+ was taken up in greater amounts relative to what was provided in the growth media (Fig. 4, **paper I**, and Fig. 2, **paper II**). Currently, the consensus is that the mechanisms controlling NH_4^+ utilization i.e. uptake, transportation, and assimilation, are regulated by the downstream metabolites of N assimilation, i.e. Gln and Glu (reviewed by Glass et al., 2002). Because no uptake data from either PEMs (**paper I**) or germinants (**paper II**) grown on media supplied only with inorganic N were obtained in the studies presented within this thesis, it cannot be excluded that Gln addition had a down-regulating effect on NH_4^+ uptake. Nevertheless,

the findings in **paper I** show that PEMs grown on medium without the addition of Gln were unable to maintain functional AA metabolism, suggesting that the supplied Gln is vital for adequate AA metabolism in PEMs rather than having a negative impact on uptake of NH_4^+ (and NO_3^-). It could also be that for PEMs, the positive effect on metabolism overshadows any negative effects of Gln on NO_3^- or NH_4^+ uptake. Furthermore, in **paper II**, it was shown that despite increasing internal Gln concentration in the germinants over the study period (Fig. 3, **paper II**), the percentage of NH_4^+ -N contributing to the total N assimilation was stable (Figs. 4 and 5, **paper II**).

Plant seed germination is induced by light, especially red light (Borthwick et al., 1952), which is sensed by a class of photoreceptor proteins named phytochromes (Shinomura et al., 1994). For somatic embryos of both pines and Norway spruce, studies have shown that red light treatment has a positive impact on germination frequency and the elongation length of both the root and hypocotyl (Kvaalen & Appelgren, 1999; Merkle et al., 2005). In **paper II**, the fraction of NH₄⁺ uptake was stable at around 30 % over the studied germination period under red light. In a pilot study in which germinants were transferred to white light for three weeks (after the initial red light treatment of three weeks), preliminary results showed that the fractions of NO₃⁻-N, NH₄⁺-N, and Gln-N uptake were 33 %, 24 %, and 43 %, respectively. This suggests that light stimulation enhances the uptake of inorganic N, possibly because increased photosynthetic activity generates more C-backbones for respiration and AA production.

More studies regarding NH_{4^+} and NO_{3^-} uptake during the whole germination phase might resolve this matter and give a deeper knowledge on N nutrition in Norway spruce during the SE process.

4.4.2 The organic N source - Gln

In PEMs (**paper I**) and germinants (**paper II**), Gln was taken up to a greater extent relative to what was supplemented in the growth media (Fig. 4, **paper I**, and Fig. 2, **paper II**). Comparing the discrepancy in the amount of provided inorganic N and Gln compared to the amounts of inorganic N and Gln taken up, Gln could be considered to be a preferred N source and a way for the plant tissue to save energy (see further discussion below in section 4.5).

The addition of Gln in the growth media could have a repressing influence on NO_3^- uptake, as mentioned generally above in section 1.4.2. Based on the experiments in **paper I**, N repression is unlikely because the observed growth on the proliferation medium amended only with inorganic N sources was poor.

For the germinating somatic embryos (**paper II**), Gln repression of NO_3^- uptake cannot be ruled out based on the results from the study. However, in a recently published study using 12-week-old germinated somatic embryos of hybrid white pine, it was found the root uptake of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ was more rapid if the embryos germinated on media supplied with only organic N compared to if inorganic N also had been supplied to the germination media (Llebrés et al., 2018).

In **paper I**, PEMs grown on medium without exogenously supplied Gln were incapable of maintaining AA metabolism, as shown by the 15-fold lower concentration of total free AA. This suggests that instead of being a negative regulator of inorganic N utilization, Gln is vital in this type of culture system.

4.5 Assimilation of N and C

With respect to N assimilation into Gln, from a plant's point of view it is energetically beneficial to assimilate NH_{4^+} as compared to NO_3^- . Assimilation of NO_3^- to NH_{4^+} via NR and NiR, and subsequently to Gln via GS/GOGAT, theoretically requires energy corresponding to 12 ATP (Briskin & Bloom, 2010).

The medium composition is the basis for SE growth performance, and in **papers I** and **II** the most abundant N-source in the media was NO_3^- . The results however, show that NO_3^- was the least abundant N-source after assimilation. This finding emphasises why it is important to know the actual uptake in relation to the media composition.

Given the substantial assimilation of NH₄⁺-N into Gln and other AAs in both **papers I** and **II**, the data indicate that the GS/GOGAT pathway is functional and does not appear to be down-regulated despite a high concentration of Gln both externally in the media and internally in the tissue. Additionally, in **paper III**, ¹³C-sucrose was found in Glu, i.e. via glycolysis and the citric acid cycle generating α -ketoglutarate for use as a substrate for Glu, and this is another piece of evidence suggesting that the GS/GOGAT pathway is operating in PEMs of Norway spruce, at least under the conditions studied.

As a final observation, in **paper II** the observation of N-rich AA build-up, i.e. Gln and Arg, adds further support for the GS/GOGAT pathway being active and efficient even during the germination phase of Norway spruce SE.

4.6 Gln alleviates metabolic stress in PEMs

In **paper I**, a remarkable observation for PEMs grown on medium amended with Gln was the high concentration of Ala. Furthermore, out of the total N assimilated into Ala, Gln N contributed about 66 %. Elevated Ala levels in a conifer SE context have, to my knowledge, only been reported previously by Joy et al. (1997), but these were not further discussed by the authors. High levels of Ala have also been reported for plants grown under anaerobic stress (Good & Crosby, 1989; Miyashita et al., 2007; Limami et al., 2008; Narsai et al., 2011). Hence, the findings in **paper I** suggest that PEMs in this type of *in vitro* cultivation system are under stress and that the Gln supplied in the medium in some way alleviates the symptoms of this stress. In **paper I**, it is speculated that Ala is (i) a storage arrangement for both assimilated C and N during low-oxygen stress, (ii) a regulatory pathway avoiding the production of acetaldehyde, which is very toxic for plants, or (iii) a by-product from the so-called GABA shunt, which short-cuts the citric acid cycle, i.e. it eliminates the oxidation steps of α -ketoglutarate to succinate.

As an alternative connection between AA metabolism and the citric acid cycle, the GABA shunt operates via three enzymes - glutamate decarboxylase (GAD), GABA transaminase (GABA-T), and succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase (SSADH). GABA is synthesised by GAD using Glu as the substrate, followed by GABA and pyruvate generating Ala and succinic semialdehyde via GABA-T. In the final reaction, succinic semialdehyde is used to create NADH and succinate via SSADH (Shelp et al., 1999; Michaeli & Fromm, 2015). The findings in paper III showed that PEMs sucrose-C metabolism was enhanced in PEMs grown on medium amended with Gln as compared to PEMs grown on without Gln supplied in the medium. Thus, the work presented in this thesis suggests that the AA metabolism in PEMs is dependent on two stress-related metabolic pathways - the AlaAT pathway and the GABA shunt – and that both pathways require supplied Gln for generating Glu as a substrate and N donor. Additionally, C-backbones for AA metabolism and respiration are generated from sucrose supplied in the medium via glycolysis and the citric acid cycle (illustrated in Fig 8).



Fig 8. Schematic overview of the suggested connection between C and N metabolism in Norway spruce SE cell culture. PEMs seems to have a constrained C metabolism and by the addition of Gln in the medium Glu can be generated via GOGAT and used as a N donor and substrate in two stress-related metabolic pathways – the AlaAT pathway and the GABA shunt. Furthermore, C-backbones e.g. α -ketoglutarate, for AA metabolism and respiration are generated via glycolysis and the citric acid cycle from sucrose supplied in the medium. Glutamate-2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase, GOGAT; alanine aminotransferase, AlaAT; GABA transaminase, GABA-T; glutamate decarboxylase, GAD; malic enzyme, ME; nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, NADH.

5 Conclusions

In this thesis, I have presented and discussed results regarding N nutrition in Norway spruce SE, with a focus on the role of exogenously supplied Gln for SE proliferation and germination. The main conclusion is that Gln is a crucial N source, both for PEMs during proliferation and for somatic embryos during germination.

All N sources supplied in the medium were taken up by PEMs, with a preference for Gln as compared to inorganic N. Furthermore, all exogenously supplied N sources were assimilated into the free AA pool, implying that the enzymes involved in NO₃⁻ assimilation, i.e. NR and NiR, as well as the enzymes GS and GOGAT, were active. However, the assimilation of NO₃⁻ appeared to be limited, indicated by low NO₃⁻ uptake and assimilation in relation to the amount of NO₃⁻ provided in the growth medium.

PEMs could not maintain a functional AA metabolism when only inorganic N was supplied in the growth medium, indicated by low total free AA concentration and slow growth. Hence, in the presence of exogenously supplied Gln in the medium, the metabolic constraints on AA metabolism were relieved, resulting in higher total free AA concentration and increased growth.

Gln addition also enabled PEMs to better utilise sucrose C in metabolism, reflected by the increase of citric acid cycle metabolites and respiration in PEMs grown on medium supplied with Gln.

Two low oxygen stress-related pathways were active in the PEM cells, the AlaAT pathway and the GABA shunt, both being dependent on Gln. These pathways could, directly or indirectly, be the underlying mechanisms alleviating the metabolic constraints of PEMs.

For germinating somatic embryos, as expected, N stored in the mature somatic embryo is not adequate to support germination. As shown by the results presented here, substantial amounts of N originated from the germination medium, and exogenous N was needed to a significant extent. In addition, Gln N contributed to more than 50 % of the total N assimilation after 24 days of

germination. The majority of assimilated N was found in N-rich AAs, e.g. Arg, possibly for N storage. Speculatively, this stored N could be used for growth after a shift to conditions that allows for a net gain from photosynthesis and thus increased amounts of C-backbones for N assimilation.

Taken together, the results from the work presented in this thesis provide an increased understanding of N metabolism and its contribution to growth during the phases of proliferation and germination of Norway spruce SE.

6 Future Perspectives

The stress constraints that the PEMs were experiencing during cultivation on solidified medium could possibly be reduced using alternative culture conditions such as liquid cultures. Hence, future studies should investigate to what extent the use of petri dishes in SE causes the stress that was observed.

Continued studies of N nutrition of germinating somatic embryos in photosynthetic light will give further insights into different aspects of N metabolism during germination. For example, studies investigating the assimilation of N into N-rich AAs under red light conditions and examining how those N-rich AA pools shift after transfer to photosynthetic light would contribute to increasing our knowledge of AA metabolism during germination of Norway spruce somatic embryos.

The NH₄⁺:NO₃⁻ ratio has previously been studied in Norway spruce during initiation and proliferation and was shown to be optimal around 1:5 in the presence of Gln (Bozhkov et al., 1993). Based on the findings in this thesis, there is a need to investigate media compositions for both proliferation of Norway spruce PEMs and germination of somatic embryos. In papers I and II the NH₄⁺:NO₃⁻ ratio was 0.28 and 0.22, respectively. Because NO₃⁻ was found to be the least assimilated N source in this culture system, it would seem reasonable to investigate whether it is possible to reduce the concentration of NO_3^{-} while maintaining an appropriate NH4+:NO3⁻ balance. Even though the medium contains more total N than "needed", because the relative uptake of NO₃⁻ was low but was provided in large amounts and the relative uptake of NH4⁺ was high but was provided in small amounts, there is a possibility that the PEMs and germinants were at risk of being NH4⁺ limited, and consequently also N limited. Therefore, it is likely that there is both an excess of added NO_3^{-1} and an imbalance of NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ in the growth media used for conifer SE. This suggests that adjustment of the inorganic N provided in the medium could improve the potential biomass and development in this type of cultivation system.

Additionally, future work should investigate the C:N balance in the SE system, aiming to understand how this balance affects SE growth and development because the current debate implies that plants in natural settings can sense their N status and can regulate their N uptake accordingly. However, at this time the sensing mechanism and how it might be controlled remains unclear.

There is a balance between how much time and money should be invested in achieving a maximum result. Past efforts to investigate and optimise basic growth parameters can be replaced by different omics-techniques exploring global changes within the plant tissue to obtain further information about the SE process. Nevertheless, growth medium composition is the basis for SE culture performance, and an appropriate nutrient composition is needed to understand the metabolic processes that are active during Norway spruce SE. This will support the forest industry's need for future large-scale operations for Norway spruce SE production, thus fortifying Norway spruce plant propagation for more growth in the forests.

References

- Almagro, A., Lin, S. H. & Tsay, Y. F. (2008) Characterization of the Arabidopsis nitrate transporter NRT1.6 reveals a role of nitrate in early embryo development. *The Plant Cell*, 20(12), pp 3289– 3299.
- Almqvist, C. (2007). Practical use of GA4/7 to stimulate flower production in Picea abies seed orchards in Sweden. In Lindgren D (editor). Proceedings of a Seed Orchard Conference, Umeå, 26-28 September, 2007. 16–24.
- Almqvist, C., & Rosenberg, O. (2016). Bekämpning av grankotterost (Thekopsora areolata) med fungicider – Försök utförda 2014 och 2015. Arbetsrapport. Från Skogforsk nr. 894. Uppsala, Sweden.
- Almqvist C., Wennström U., Karlsson B. (2010). Förädlat skogsodlingsmaterial 2010 2050. Tillgång och behov av förädlat frö samt förslag på åtgärder för att minimera brist och maximera genetisk vinst. [Improved forest regeneration material 2010 – 2050]. Skogforsk, Uppsala.
- Andersson, B. & Lindgren, D. (2011). Molecular and other biotech methods Options for Swedish tree breeding. In Rosvall, O. (ed). Review of the Swedish Tree Breeding Programme. Skogforsk, Uppsala, Sweden. pp 21–27.
- Angoshtari, R., Tavakkol Afshari, R., Kalantari, S. & Omidi, M. (2009). Effects of Abscisic Acid on Somatic Embryogenesis and Induction of Desiccation Tolerance in *Brassica napus*. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences, 8(4), pp 276–284.
- Aubert, S., Bligny, R., Douce, R., Gout, E., Ratcliffe, R.G. & Roberts, J.K.M. (2001). Contribution of glutamate dehydrogenase to mitochondrial glutamate metabolism studied by 13C and 31P nuclear magnetic resonance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 52(354), pp 37–45.
- Avila, C., Suárez, M.F., Gómez-Maldonado, J. & Cánovas, F.M. (2001). Spatial and temporal expression of two cytosolic glutamine synthetase genes in Scots pine: functional implications on nitrogen metabolism during early stages of conifer development. *The Plant Journal*, 25(1), pp 93–102.
- Avila Sáez, C., Muñoz-Chapuli, R., Plomion, C., Frigerio, J. & Cánovas, F.M. (2000). Two genes encoding distinct cytosolic glutamine synthetases are closely linked in the pine genome. *FEBS Letters*, 477(3), pp 237–243.
- Barrett, J.D., Park, Y.S. & Bonga, J.M. (1997). The effectiveness of various nitrogen sources in white spruce [*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss] somatic embryogenesis. *Plant Cell Reports*, 16(6), pp 411–415.

- Bernhard, A. (2010). The Nitrogen Cycle: Processes, Players, and Human Impact. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 3(10), 25.
- Borthwick, H.A., Hendricks, S.B., Parker, M., Toole, E.H. & Toole, V.K. (1952). A reversible photoreaction controlling seed germination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 38(8), pp 662–666.
- Bozhkov, P.V., Mikhlina, S.B., Shiryaeva, G.A. & Lebedenko, L.A. (1993). Influence of nitrogen balance of culture medium on Norway spruce [*Picea abies* (L.) Karst] somatic polyembryogenesis: High frequency establishment of embryonal-suspensor mass lines from mature zygotic embryos. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 142(6), pp 735–741.
- Bozhkov, P. & von Arnold, S. (1998). Polyethylene glycol promotes maturation but inhibits further development of Picea abies somatic embryos. *Physiologia Plantarum*,104(2), pp 211–224.
- Braybrook, S.A. & Haranda, J.J. (2008). LECs go crazy in embryo development. TRENDS in Plant Science, 13(12), pp 624–630.
- Briskin, D.P & Bloom, A. (2010). Assimilation of Mineral Nutrients. In: Taiz, L. & Zeiger, E. (eds). Plant Physiology, fifth edition, Chapter 12. Sinauer Associates, Inc. Sunderland, U.S.A. pp 343–368.
- Britto, D.T. & Kronzucker, H.J. (2013). Ecological significance and complexity of N-source preference in plants. *Annals of Botany*, 112(6), pp 957–963.
- Buchholz, J. T. (1942). A comparison of the embryogeny of Picea and Abies. *Madroño*, 6(5), pp. 156–167.
- Camañes, G., Cerezo, M., Primo-Millo, E., Gojon, A. & García-Agustín, P. (2007). Ammonium transport and CitAMT1 expression are regulated by light and sucrose in Citrus plants. *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 58(11), pp 2811–2825.
- Cánovas, F.M., Avila, C., Cantón, F.R., Cañas, R.A. & de la Torre, F. (2007). Ammonium assimilation and amino acid metabolism in conifers. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(9), pp 2307–2318.
- Cantón F.R., Suárez, M.F., José-Estanyol M. & Cánovas, F.M. (1999). Expression analysis of a cytosolic glutamine synthetase gene in cotyledons of Scots pine seedlings: developmental, light–dark regulation, and spatial distribution of specific transcripts. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 40(4), pp 623–634.
- Castro-Rodríguez, V., Assaf-Casals, I., Pérez-Tienda, J., Fan, X., Avila, C., Miller, A. & Cánovas, F.M. (2016). Deciphering the molecular basis of ammonium uptake and transport in maritime pine. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 39(8), pp 1669–1682.
- Castro-Rodríguez, V., Cañas, R.A., de la Torre, F.N., Pascual, M.B., Avila, C. & Cánovas, F.M. (2017). Molecular fundamentals of nitrogen uptake and transport in trees. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 68(10), pp 2489–2500.
- Carnus, J-M., Parrotta, J., Brockerhoff, E., Arbez, M., Jactel, H., Kremer, A., Lamb, D., O'Hara, K. & Walters, B. (2006). Planted Forests and Biodiversity. *Journal of Forestry*, 104(2), pp 65– 77.
- Chalupa, V. (1985). Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration from cultured immature and mature embryos of *Picea abies* /L./Karst. *Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Czechosloveniae*, 14, pp 57–63.

- Chiasson, D.M., Loughlin, P.C., Mazurkiewicz, D., Mohammadidehcheshmeh, M., Fedorova, E.E., Okamotoa, M., McLean, E., Glass, A.D.M., Smith, S.E., Bisseling, T., Tyerman, S.D., Dayg, D.A & N. Kaiser, B.N. (2014). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(13), pp 4814–4819.
- Chopin, F., Orsel, M., Dorbe, M-F., Chardon, F., Truong, H-N., Miller, A.J., Krapp, A. & Daniel-Vedele, F. (2007). The Arabidopsis ATNRT2.7 nitrate transporter controls nitrate content in seeds. *The Plant Cell*, 19(5), pp 1590–1602.
- Crain, B.A. & Cregg, B.M. (2018). Regulation and Management of Cone Induction in Temperate Conifers. *Forest Science*, 64(1), pp 82–101.
- Davis, C.& Schaefer, H. (2011). Plant Evolution: Pulses of Extinction and Speciation in Gymnosperm Diversity. *Current Biology*, 21(24), pp R995–R998.
- Dogra, P.D. (1967). Seed sterility and disturbances in embryogeny in conifers with particular reference to seed testing and tree breeding in Pinaceae. *Studia forestalia Suecica*, 45.
- Dubois, F., Tercé-Laforgue, T., Gonzalez-Moro, M-B., Estavillo, J-M., Sangwan, R., Gallais, A. & Hirel, B. (2003). Glutamate dehydrogenase in plants: is there a new story for an old enzyme? *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 41(6-7), pp 565–576.
- Egertsdotter, U. (1996). Regulation of somatic embryo development in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Research Notes 52, Dissertation.
- Engelmann, F. (2011). Use of biotechnologies for the conservation of plant biodiversity. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant*, 47(1), pp 5–16.
- Eriksson, G. Ekberg, I. & Clapham, D. (2006). An introduction to Forest Genetics. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Fan, T.W-M., Higashi, R.M., Frenkiel, T.A. & Lane, A.N. (1997). Anaerobic nitrate and ammonium metabolism in flood-tolerant rice coleoptiles. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 48(314), pp 1655–1666.
- Fehér, A., Pasternak, T.P. & Dudits, D. (2003). Transition of somatic plant cells to an embryogenic state. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, 74(3), pp 201–228.
- Forde, B.G. & Lea, P.J. (2007). Glutamate in plants: metabolism, regulation, and signalling. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(9), pp 2339–2358.
- Gent, L. & Forde, B.G. (2017). How do plants sense their nitrogen status? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 68(10), pp 2531–2540.
- George, E. & de Klerk, G-J. (2008). The Components of Plant Tissue Culture Media I: Macro- and Micro-Nutrients. In: George, E., Hall, M. & de Klerk, G-J. (eds.). Somatic Embryogenesis. Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture 3rd edition, Volume 1: The background. Chapter 3. Dordrecht, Springer. pp 65–114.
- Gessler, A., Schneider, S., Von Sengbusch, D., Weber, P., Hanemann, U., Huber, C., et al. (1998).
 Field and laboratory experiments on net uptake of nitrate and ammonium by the roots of spruce (*Picea abies*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) trees. *New Phytologist*, 138(2), pp 275–285.
- Gifford, D. & Tolley, M. (1989). The seed proteins of white spruce and their mobilisation following germination. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 77(2), pp 254–261.
- Glass, A.D.M., Britto, D.T., Kaiser, B.N., Kinghorn, J.R., Kronzucker, H.J., Kumar, A., Okamoto, M., Rawat, S., Siddiqi, M.Y., Unkles, S.E. & Vidmar, J.J. (2002). The regulation of nitrate and ammonium transport systems in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 53(370), pp. 855–864.

- Goldberg, R., de Paiva, G. & Yadegari, R. (1994). Plant Embryogenesis: Zygote to Seed. Science, 266, pp 605–614.
- Gonzalez-Meler, M.A., Taneva, L. & Trueman, R.J. (2004). Plant Respiration and Elevated Atmospheric CO2 Concentration: Cellular Responses and Global Significance. *Annals of Botany*, 94(5), pp 647–656.
- Good, A.G. & Crosby, W.L. (1989). Anaerobic Induction of Alanine Aminotransferase in Barley Root Tissue. *Plant Physiology*, 90(4), pp 1305–1309.
- Grossnickle, S.C., Cyr, D. & Polonenko, D.R. (1996). Somatic embryogenesis tissue culture for the propagation of conifer seedlings: A technology comes of age. *Tree Planters' Notes*, 47(2), pp 48–57.
- Gruffman, L., Jämtgård, S. & Näsholm, T. (2014). Plant nitrogen status and co-occurrence of organic and inorganic nitrogen sources influence root uptake by Scots pine seedlings. *Tree Physiology*, 34(2), pp 205–213.
- Gruffman, L., Palmroth, S. & Näsholm, T. (2013). Organic nitrogen uptake of Scots pine seedlings is independent of current carbohydrate supply. *Tree Physiology*, 33(6), pp 590–600.
- Hakman, I. (1993). Embryology in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). An analysis of the composition of seed storage proteins and deposition of storage reserves during seed development and somatic embryogenesis. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 87, pp 148–159.
- Hakman, I., Fowke, L.C., von Arnold, S. & Erikson, T. (1985). The development of somatic embryos in tissue cultures initiated from immature embryos of *Picea abies* (Norway spruce). *Plant Science*, 38(1), pp 53–59.
- Hamasaki, R., Purgatto, E. & Mercier, H. (2005). Glutamine enhances competence for organogenesis in pineapple leaves cultivated *in vitro*. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 17(4), pp 383–389.
- Hirner, A., Ladwig, F., Stransky, H., Okumoto, S., Keinath, M., Harms, A., Frommer, W.B. & Koch, W. (2006). Arabidopsis LHT1 is a high-affinity transporter for cellular amino acid uptake in both root epidermis and leaf mesophyll. *Plant Cell*, 18(8), pp 1931–1946.
- Howitt, S.M. & Udvardi M.K. (2000). Structure, function and regulation of ammonium transporters in plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes*, 1465(1-2), pp 152–170.
- Huppe, H.C. & Turpin, D.H. (1994). Integration of carbon and nitrogen metabolism in plant and algal cells. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 45, pp 577–607.
- Högberg, K-A., Bozhkov, P.V., Grönroos, R. & von Arnold, S. (2001). Critical Factors Affecting
- Ex Vitro Performance of Somatic Embryo Plants of Picea abies. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 16(4), pp 295–304.
- Ireland RJ, Lea PJ. 1999. The enzymes of glutamine, glutamate, asparagine, and aspartate metabolism. In: Singh, B. (ed). Plant amino acids: biochemistry and biotechnology. Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp 49–109.
- Joy, R.W., Vogel, H.J. & Thorpe, T.A. (1997). Inorganic nitrogen metabolism in embryogenic white spruce cultures: a nitrogen 14/15 NMR study. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 151(3), pp 306–315.
- Kamminga-van Wijk, C. & Prins, H.B.A. (1993). The kinetics of NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ uptake by Douglas fir from single N-solutions and from solutions containing both NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻. *Plant and Soil*, 151(1), pp 91–96.

- Kaul, K. & Hoffman, S.A. (1993). Ammonium ion inhibition of *Pinus strobus* L. callus growth. *Plant Science*, 88(2), pp 169–173.
- Khlifi, S. & Tremblay, F. (1995). Maturation of black spruce somatic embryos. Part I. Effect of Lglutamine on the number and germinability of somatic embryos. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, 41(1), pp 23–32.
- King, J. & Gifford, D. (1997). Amino acid utilization in seeds of loblolly pine during germination and early seedling growth. *Plant Physiology*, 113(4), pp 1125–1135.
- Kirby, E. (1982). The effects of organic nitrogen sources on growth of cell cultures of Douglas-fir. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 56(1), pp 114–117.
- Knudson, L. (1922) Nonsymbiotic germination of orchid seeds. *The Botanical Gazette*, 73 (1), 1– 25.
- Koning, R. (1994) Respiration. Plant Physiology Information Website. Available at: http://plantphys.info/plant_physiology/respire.shtml [2018-06-05]
- Krapp, A. (2015). Plant nitrogen assimilation and its regulation: a complex puzzle with missing pieces. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 25, pp115–122.
- Krasavina, M., Burmistrova, N. & Raldugina, G. (2014). The Role of Carbohydrates in Plant Resistance to Abiotic Stresses. In: Ahmad, P. & Rasool, S. (eds). Emerging Technologies and Management of Crop Stress Tolerance, Volume 1. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, pp 229–270.
- Kronzucker, H., Siddiqi, Y. & Glass, A. (1996). Kinetics of NH₄⁺ influx in Spruce. *Plant Physiology*, 110(3), pp 773–779.
- Kronzucker, H., Siddiqi, Y. & Glass, A. (1997). Conifer root discrimination against soil nitrate and the ecology of forest succession. *Nature*, 385, pp 59–61.
- Kvaalen, H. & Appelgren, M. (1999). Light quality influences germination, root growth and hypocotyle elongation in somatic embryos but not in seedlings of Norway spruce. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant*, 35(6), pp 437–441.
- Lam, H.M., Coschigano, K., Oliveira, I.C., Melo-Oliveira, R. & Coruzzi, G. (1996). The moleculargenetics of nitrogen assimilation into amino acids in higher plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, 47, pp 569–593.
- Lea, P.J. & Ireland, R.J. (1999). Nitrogen Metabolism in Higher Plants. In: Singh, B. (ed). Plant amino acids: biochemistry and biotechnology. Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp 1–47.
- Lee, Y.H., Foster, J., Chen, J., Voll, L.M., Weber, A.P.M. & Tegeder, M. (2007). AAP1 transports uncharged amino acids into roots of Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal*, 50 (2), pp 305–319.
- Lelu-Walter, M-A., Thompson, D., Harvengt, L., Sanchez, L., Toribio, M. & Pâques, L. (2013). Somatic embryogenesis in forestry with a focus on Europe: state-of-the-art, benefits, challenges and future directions. *Tree Genetics and Genomes*, 9(4), pp 883–899.
- Léran, S., Garg, B., Boursiac, Y., Corratgé-Faillie, C., Brachet, C., Tillard, P., Gojon, A. & Lacombe, B. (2015). AtNPF5.5, a nitrate transporter affecting nitrogen accumulation in Arabidopsis embryo. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 7962.
- Limami, A., Glévarec, G., Ricoult, C., Cliquet, J.B. & Planchet, E. (2008). Concerted modulation of alanine and glutamate metabolism in young *Medicago truncatula* seedlings under hypoxic stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 59(9), pp 2325–2335.
- Lindgren, K., Ekberg, I. & Eriksson, G. (1977). External factors influencing female flowering in Picea abies (L.) Karst. Studia Forestalia Suecica, 142.

- Llebrés, M.T., Avila, C., Cánovas, F.M. & Klimaszewska, K. (2018). Root growth of somatic plants of hybrid *Pinus strobus* (L.) and *P. wallichiana* (A. B. Jacks.) is affected by the nitrogen composition of the somatic embryo germination medium. *Trees*, 32(2), 371.
- Malagoli, M., Dal Canal, A., Quaggiotti, S., Pegoraro, P., Bottacin, A. (2000). Differences in nitrate and ammonium uptake between Scots pine and European larch. *Plant and Soil*, 221(1), pp 1– 3.
- Marschner, H., Häussling, M. & George, W. (1991). Ammonium and nitrate uptake rates and rhizosphere pH in non-mycorrhizal roots of Norway spruce [*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.]. *Trees*, 5(1), pp 14–21.
- Masclaux-Daubresse, C., Daniel-Vedele, F., Dechorgnat, J., Chardon, F., Gaufichon, L. & Suzuki, A. (2010). Nitrogen uptake, assimilation and remobilization in plants: challenges for sustainable and productive agriculture. *Annals of Botany*, 105(7), pp 1141–1157.
- McKeand, S., Abt, R., Allen, L., Li, B. & Catts, G. (2006). What Are the Best Loblolly Pine Genotypes Worth to Landowners? *Journal of Forestry*, 104(7), pp 352-358.
- McNally, S.F., Hirel, B., Gadal, P., Mann, A.F. & Stewart, G.R. (1983). Glutamine Synthetases of Higher Plants - Evidence for a Specific Isoform Content Related to Their Possible Physiological Role and Their Compartmentation within the Leaf. *Plant Physiology*, 72, pp 22–25.
- Meija, J., Coplen, T.B., Berglund, M., Brand, W.A., De Bièvre, P., Gröning, M., Holden, N.E., Irrgeher, J., Loss, R.D., Walczyk, T. & Prohaska, T. (2016). Isotopic compositions of the elements 2013 (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 88(3), pp 293–306.
- Merkle, S., Montello, P., Xia, X., Upchurch, B. & Smith, D. (2005). Light quality treatments enhance somatic seedling production in three southern pine species. *Tree Physiology*, 26(2), pp187–194.
- Metcalfe, R.J., Nault, J. & Hawkins, B.J. (2011). Adaptations to nitrogen form: comparing inorganic nitrogen and amino acid availability and uptake by four temperate forest plants. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 41(8), pp 1626–1637.
- Michaeli, S. & Fromm, H. (2015). Closing the loop on the GABA shunt in plants: are GABA metabolism and signaling entwined? *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6, 419.
- Miflin, B.J. & Habash, D.Z. (2002). The role of glutamine synthetase and glutamate dehydrogenase in nitrogen assimilation and possibilities for improvement in the nitrogen utilization of crops. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 53(370), pp 979–987.
- Miller, B.D. & Hawkins, B.J. (2007). Ammonium and nitrate uptake, nitrogen productivity and biomass allocation in interior spruce families with contrasting growth rates and mineral nutrient preconditioning. *Tree Physiology*, 27(6), pp 901–909.
- Miyashita, Y., Dolferus, R., Ismond, K.P. & Good, A.G. (2007). Alanine aminotransferase catalyses the breakdown of alanine after hypoxia in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Journal*, 49(6), pp1108–1121.
- Nacry, P., Bouguyon, E. & Gojon, A. (2013). Nitrogen acquisition by roots: physiological and developmental mechanisms ensuring plant adaptation to a fluctuating resource. *Plant Soil*, 370(1-2), pp 1–29.
- Narsai R, Rocha M, Geigenberger P, Whelan J, van Dongen J. 2011. Comparative analysis between plant species of transcriptional and metabolic responses to hypoxia. *New Phytologist*, 190(2), pp 472–487.

- Nehra, N.S., Becwar, M.R., Rottmann, W.H., Pearson, L., Chowdhury, K., Chang, S., Wilde, H.D., Kodrzycki, R.J., Zhang, C., Gause, K.C., Parks, D.W. & Hinchee, M.A. 2005. Forest biotechnology: Innovative methods, emerging opportunities. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant*, 41(6), pp 701–717.
- Niedz, R.P. & Evens, T.J. (2008). The effects of nitrogen and potassium nutrition on the growth of nonembryogenic and embryogenic tissue of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis* (L.) Osbeck). *BMC Plant Biology*, 8, 126.
- Nunes-Nesi, A., Fernie, A. & Stitt, M. (2010). Metabolic and Signaling Aspects Underpinning the Regulation of Plant Carbon Nitrogen Interactions. *Molecular Plant*, 3(6), pp 973–996.
- Näsholm, T., Kielland, K. & Ganeteg, U. (2009). Uptake of organic nitrogen by plants. *New Phytologist*, 182(1), pp 31-48.
- Ogita, S., Sasamoto, H., Yeung, E. & Thorpe, T. (2001). The effects of glutamine on the maintenance of embryogenic cultures of cryptomeria japonica. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant*, 37(2), pp 268–273.
- Ortiz-Lopez, A., Chang, H.C. & Bush, D. R. (2000). Amino acid transporters in plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1465, 275–280.
- Owens, J.N., Takaso, T. & Runions C.J. (1998). Pollination in conifers. *TRENDS in plant science*, 3(12), pp 479–485.
- Park, Y-S. (2002). Implementation of conifer somatic embryogenesis in clonal forestry: technical requirements and deployment considerations. *Annals of Forest Science*, 59(5-6), pp 651–656.
- Perchlik, M., Foster, J. & Tegeder, M. (2014). Different and overlapping functions of Arabidopsis LHT6 and AAP1 transporters in root amino acid uptake. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 65(18), pp 5193–5204.
- Pérez Rodríguez, M.J., Suárez, M.F., Heredia, R., Ávila, C., David Breton, D., Trontin, J-F., Filonova, L., Bozhkov, P., Sara von Arnold, S., Harvengt, L. & Cánovas, F.M. (2006). Expression patterns of two glutamine synthetase genes in zygotic and somatic pine embryos support specific roles in nitrogen metabolism during embryogenesis. *New Phytologist*, 169(1), pp 35–44.
- Persson, J., Gardeström, P. & Näsholm, T. (2006). Uptake, metabolism and distribution of organic and inorganic nitrogen sources by *Pinus sylvestris*. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57(11), pp 2651–2659.
- Persson, J., Högberg, P., Ekblad, A., Högberg, M.N., Nordgren, A. & Näsholm, T. (2003). Nitrogen acquisition from inorganic and organic sources by boreal forest plants in the field. *Oecologia*, 137(2), pp 252–257.
- Pescador, R., Kerbauy, G.B., Fraga, H.P.F., Hamasaki, R.M., Tavares, L.B.B. & Guerra, M.P. (2012). Dynamics of free and ³H-labelled glutamine concentrations during zygotic and somatic embryogenesis of Feijoa [*Acca sellowiana* (O. Berg.) Burret]. *Journal of Horticultural Science* & *Biotechnology*, 87(6), pp 583–587.
- Pinto, A.C.Q., Byrne, D.H. & Dethier Rogers, S.M. (1993). Influence of ovule perforation, plant growth regulators, and l-glutamine on in vitro growth of immature peach embryos. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology – Plant*, 29(2), pp 55–58.
- Prescher, F. (2007). Seed Orchards Genetic Consideration on Function, Management and Seed Procurement. Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae, 2007:75.

- Pullman, G. & Bucalo, K. (2014). Pine somatic embryogenesis: analyses of seed tissue and medium to improve protocol development. *New Forests*, 45(3), pp 353–377.
- Raghavan, V. (2003). One hundred years of zygotic embryo culture investigations. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology – Plant, 39(5), pp 437–442.
- Raghavan, V. & Sharma, K.K. (1995). Zygotic embryogenesis in gymnosperms and angiosperms. In: Thorpe T.A. (ed). In vitro Embryogenesis in Plants. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 73–115.
- Rawat, S.R., Silim, S.N., Kronzucker, H.J., Siddiqi M.Y. & Glass A.D.M. (1999). AtAMT1 gene expression and NH₄⁺ uptake in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*: evidence for regulation by root glutamine levels. *The Plant Journal*, 19(2), pp 143–152.
- Raven PH, Evert RF, Eichhorn SE (2005) Biology of Plants, 7th edition. W.H. Freeman and Company/Worth Publishers. W.H. Freeman and Company, New York, U.S.A.
- Reis, R.V., Chierrito T.P.C., Silva, T.F.O., Albiero, A.L.M., Luiz A. Souza, L.A., Gonçalves, J.E., Arildo J.B. Oliveira, A.J.B., Gonçalves, R.A.C. (2017). Morpho-anatomical study of *Stevia rebaudiana* roots grown *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 27(1), pp 34–39.
- Remröd, J., Lundell, S., Pettersson, W. & Rosvall, O. (2003) Svenska skogsfröplantager 2020 Nationell plan för den 3:e omgången fröplantager i Sverige. Skogforsk, Arbetsrapport 548. (In Swedish).
- Ribas-Carbo, M., Flexas, J., Robinson, S.A. & Tcherkez, G.G.B. (2010). In vivo measurement of plant respiration. In: Taiz, L. & Zeiger, E. (eds). A Companion to Plant Physiology, 5th edition, Web essay 11.9.
- Robinson, S.A., Stewart, G.R. & Phillips, R. (1992). Regulation of Glutamate Dehydrogenase Activity in Relation to Carbon Limitation and Protein Catabolism in Carrot Cell Suspension Cultures. *Plant Physiology*, 98(3), pp 1190–1195.
- Rosvall, O. & Mullin, T. (2013). Introduction to breeding strategies and evaluation of alternatives. In: Mullin, T. & Lee, S. (eds). Best practice for tree breeding in Europe. Skogforsk, Gävle, pp 7–27.
- Rosvall, O., Wennström, U., Almqvist, C., Andersson, B., Karlsson, B. & Sonesson, J. (2003). Underlag för operativ planering av tredje omgången fröplantager (TreO) i Sverige [Foundings for operational planning of the third cycle seed orchards (TreO) in Sweden]. SkogForsk, Arbetsrapport 550. (In Swedish).
- Santos, dos T.B., Lima, J.E., Felicio, M.S., Soares, J.D.M. & Domingues, D.S. (2017). Genomewide identification, classification and transcriptional analysis of nitrate and ammonium transporters in *Coffea. Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 40(1), pp 346–359.
- Schmid, K.M. & Ohlrogge, J.B. (2002). Lipid Metabolism in Plants. In: Vance, D.E. & Vance, J.E. (eds). Biochemistry of Lipids, Lipoproteins and Membranes, 4th edition, chapter 4, pp 93–126.
- Shelp, B., Bown, A. & McLean, M. (1999). Metabolism and functions of gamma-aminobutyric acid. *TRENDS in Plant Science*, 4(11), pp 446–452.
- Shinomura, T., Nagatani, A., Chory, J. & Furuya, M. (1994). The induction of seed germination in Arabidopsis thaliana is regulated principally by phytochrome B and secondarily by phytochrome A. *Plant Physiology*, 104(2), pp 363–371.

- Singh, H. (1978). Embryology of Gymnosperms. In: Zimmermann, W., Carlquist, Z., Ozenda, P. & Wulff, HD. (eds). Handbuch der Pflanzenanatomie. Gebrüder Borntrager, Berlin, pp 187– 241.
- Skogsstyrelsen. (2017). Produktion av skogsplantor 2016. [Production of seedlings 2016]. Official Statistics of Sweden. Skogstyrelsen, JO0313 SM 1701.
- Skogsstyrelsen. (2018). Produktion av skogsplantor 2017. [Production of seedlings 2017]. Official Statistics of Sweden. Skogstyrelsen, JO0313 SM 1801.
- SLU. (2017). Forest statistics 2017. Official Statistics of Sweden. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå.
- Smertenko, A. & Bozhkov, P. (2014). Somatic embryogenesis: life and death processes during apical–basal patterning. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 65(5), pp 1343–1360.
- Sonesson, J., Bradshaw, R., Lindgren, D. & Ståhl, P. (2001). Ecological evaluation of clonal forestry with cutting-propagated Norway spruce. SkogForsk, Report No.1.
- Steward, F.C., Mapes, M.O. & Mears, K. (1958). Growth and organized development of cultured cells. II. Organization from cultures grown from freely suspended cells. *American Journal of Botany*, 45, pp 705–708.
- Stewart G.R., Mann, A.F. & Fentem, P.A. (1980). Enzymes of glutamate formation: glutamate dehydrogenase, glutamine synthetase, and glutamate synthase. In: Miflin, B.J. (ed.), The Biochemistry of Plants, vol. 5, chapter 5. Academic Press, NewYork, pp. 271–327.
- Svennerstam, H., Ganeteg, U., Bellini, C. & Näsholm, T. (2007). Comprehensive screening of Arabidopsis mutants suggests the Lysine Histidine Transporter 1 to be involved in plant uptake of amino acids. *Plant Physiology*, 143(4), pp 1853–1860.
- Svennerstam, H., Ganeteg, U. & Näsholm, T. (2008). Root uptake of cationic amino acids by Arabidopsis depends on functional expression of amino acid permease 5. *New Phytologist*, 180(3), pp 620–630.
- Tegeder, M. & Masclaux-Daubresse, C. (2018). Source and sink mechanisms of nitrogen transport and use. *New Phytologist*, 217(1), pp 35–53.
- Tikkinen, M., Varis, S. & Aronen, T. (2018). Development of Somatic Embryo Maturation and Growing Techniques of Norway Spruce Emblings towards Large-Scale Field Testing. *Forests*, 9, 325.
- Vasudevan, A., Selvaraj, N., Ganapathi, A., Kasthurirengan, S., Ramesh Anbazhagan, V. & Manickavasagam, M. (2004). Glutamine: a suitable nitrogen source for enhanced shoot multiplication in *Cucumis sativus* L. *Biologia Plantarum*, 48(1), pp 125–128.
- Verdeil, J-L., Alemanno, L., Niemenak, N. & Tranbarger, T.J. (2007). Pluripotent versus totipotent plant stem cells: dependence versus autonomy? *TRENDS in Plant Science*, 12(6), pp 245–252.
- von Arnold, S. & Clapham, D. (2008). Spruce embryogenesis. In: Suárez, MF. & Bozhkov, PV. (eds). Plant embryogenesis: methods in molecular biology. Human Press, Totowa, pp 31–47.
- von Arnold, S. & Eriksson, T. (1981). In vitro studies of adventitious shoot formation in Pinus contorta. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 59(5), pp 870–874.
- von Arnold, S., Sabala, I., Bozhkov, P., Dyachok, J. & Filonova, L. (2002). Developmental pathways of somatic embryogenesis. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, 69(3), 233–249.
- von Aderkas, P., Teyssier, C., Charpentier, J-P., Gutmann, M., Pâques, L., Le Metté, C., Ader, K., Label, P., Kong, L. & Lelu-Walter, M-A. (2015). Effect of light conditions on anatomical and

biochemical aspects of somatic and zygotic embryos of hybrid larch (Larix × marschlinsii). Annals of Botany, 115, pp 605–615.

- Wang L.N., Cui, D.H., Zhao, X.Y. & He, M. (2017). The important role of the citric acid cycle in plants. *Genomics and Applied Biology*, 8(4), pp 25–29.
- Wang, Y-Y., Hsu, P-K. & Tsay, Y-F. (2012). Uptake, allocation and signaling of nitrate. TRENDS in Plant Science, 17(10), 624.
- Wang, X-Q. & Ran, J-H. (2014). Evolution and biogeography of gymnosperms. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 75, pp 24–40.
- Westin, J. & Haapanen, M. (2013). Norway spruce Picea abies (L.) Karst. In: Mullin, T. & Lee, S. (eds). Best practice for tree breeding in Europe. Skogforsk, Gävle, pp 29–47.
- White, P.J. (2012). Ion Uptake Mechanisms of Individual Cells and Roots: Short-distance Transport. In: Marschner, P. (ed). Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd edition, chapter 2. Elsevier Ltd, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 7–47.
- Winkelmann, T. (2016). Somatic Versus Zygotic Embryogenesis: Learning from Seeds. In: Germanà MA. & Lambardi, M. (eds). In vitro embryogenesis in higher plants. Humana Press, Hatfield, pp 25–46.
- Yaseen, M., Ahmad, T., Sablok, G., Standardi, A. & Ahmad Hafiz, I. (2012). Review: role of carbon sources for in vitro plant growth and development. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 40(4), pp 2837– 2849.
- Öhlund, J. & Näsholm, T. (2001). Growth of conifer seedlings on organic and inorganic nitrogen sources. *Tree Physiology*, 21(18), pp 1319–1326.
- Öhlund, J. & Näsholm, T. (2004). Regulation of organic and inorganic nitrogen uptake in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seedlings. *Tree Physiology*, 24(12), pp 1397–1402.

Popular science summary

Globally, forest industries are facing a growing demand for higher production yields and better quality materials from the forests. New areas for forest products, including bioenergy, are developing together with strengthening importance for forest conservation and biodiversity. Forestry and forest management must advance to meet these demands.

After a forest felling, forest regeneration is generally started by planting seedlings. The seedlings are primarily produced from seed orchard elite seeds coming from crosses of selected plus trees from the breeding program. Unfortunately, over the last decade Norway spruce seed orchards in Sweden have been suffering from pathogen and pest problems that have led to a reduction in the number of seeds. Consequently, to maintain the seedling production for reforestation, there is a need for more effective techniques. Somatic embryogenesis is a technique that can be implemented for large-scale production of conifer species, including Norway spruce. Therefore, my work has been directed to contributing to and supporting the production of Norway spruce trees.

Embryogenesis - start of a new plant life

One plant comes from one seed, or rather, a seed embryo. A seed embryo consists of different types of cells that, when the embryo grows, develop into a plant consisting of different organs with specific functions. My research uses somatic embryogenesis as an experimental tool for producing embryos that allow us to study embryo development and germination in the Norway spruce. The focus of my first line of research is on the earliest stages, the embryogenic cells, which are the cells that exist before the embryo is fully developed. My second line of research focuses on the stage where the mature somatic embryo starts to germinate into a plantlet with fully developed shoot and root structures. I have studied how nitrogen is taken up and transformed into free amino acids, the building blocks of DNA, proteins, chlorophyll, etc. The amino acids are the pathway of the nitrogen into the cells and are necessary for the embryo and the

later development of the plant, regardless of how (e.g. from the field or from a nutritional solution) or in what form the nitrogen has been taken up (e.g., as ammonium, nitrate, or as individual amino acids such as glutamine).

The role of glutamine during the process of somatic embryo development

In the first part of my studies, it was shown that the growth of the embryogenic cells increased if the amino acid glutamine was added to the standard nutritional solution with ammonium and nitrate. This work suggests that nitrogen uptake is regulated, with a strong preference for glutamine, and I found that 64 % of the nitrogen in the free pool of amino acids came from the glutamine added to the nutritional solution. I also found that exogenously supplied glutamine increased the cell culture's ability to respire sucrose-derived carbon. Cell cultures grown with only ammonium and nitrate as nitrogen sources had significantly lower concentrations of free amino acids, and the cells appeared to have died, possibly because the cells were unable to maintain their metabolism. Cells grown with added glutamine appeared healthy, and this observation suggests an underlying metabolic stress in this somatic embryogenesis system that glutamine relieved.

In the second part of my work, the overall goal was to increase our knowledge of the carbon and nitrogen budget during the germination of a mature somatic embryo, with a more detailed look at nitrogen uptake and transformation into free amino acids. I found that carbon and nitrogen from the nutritional solution were the main sources contributing to development and growth and that the embryo's own storage reserves were not adequate. The nitrogen taken up and used to produce amino acids showed a preferred consumption of glutamine and ammonium nitrogen compared to whatever nitrogen sources were provided in the growth medium. This emphasises the importance of more basic knowledge on how the germinating somatic embryo uses nutrients for growth.

The contribution of my work has been a better understanding of the role of glutamine during the process of somatic embryogenesis. More so, my results have implications for the advancement of industrial applications for more effective Norway spruce plant production through somatic embryogenesis at a time when current seed supplies are threatened.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Skogsindustrin står inför en globalt stigande efterfråga på ökad produktion och bättre kvalité av skogsråvaror. Efterfrågan på förnyelsebara råvaror blir allt större, och utöver de traditionella produkterna utvecklas nya användningsområden för skogsråvara, så som bioenergi. Samtidigt har medvetenheten för skogens roll i landskapets ekologi och bevarande av biologisk mångfald ökat. För att kunna möta de olika mål och intressen av skogen och skogsråvaran måste skogsbruket utvecklas och förnyas.

Efter en skogsavverkning återplanteras marken vanligtvis med plantor producerade främst av förädlat frö från fröplantager. Produktionen av granfrö i Sverige har dessvärre under det senaste decenniet drabbats av skadesvamparoch insektsangrepp vilket lett till minskad frötillgång. Följaktligen finns det ett behov av effektivare metoder för att säkerställa produktion av granplantor. En sådan metod är somatisk embryogenes (en laboratoriemetod där en eller en grupp av celler, de somatiska cellerna, kan multipliceras och utvecklas till ett obegränsat antal embryon genom att växa på en näringslösning) som kan användas för storskalig produktion av barrträd, inklusive gran. I min avhandling har jag studerat upptag och inkorporering av kväve under processen somatisk embryogenes hos gran med syftet att öka kunskapen om aminosyran, glutamin och dess betydelse för processen, och stödja produktionen av granplantor genom somatisk embryogenes.

Embryogenes - början på ett nytt plantliv

Inuti ett granfrö finns fröembryot som kan gro och bli en planta. Ett fröembryo består av ett flertal sorters celler som utvecklas till de olika delarna i en planta. Alla celler, utom könscellerna, kallas somatiska celler, och embryogenes är utveckling från en cell till ett embryo.

I min forskning använde jag somatisk embryogenes som ett verktyg för att producera embryon och i dem studera granens embryoutveckling och groning. Första delen av min avhandling fokuserar på de tidiga embryogena cellerna - cellerna före embryot är helt utvecklat. Den andra delen i avhandlingen fokuserar på det mogna embryot som börjar gro till en planta med en rot-och skottdel. I de två utvecklingsstadierna studerade jag hur kväve tas upp och omvandlas till fria aminosyror, byggstenarna till DNA, proteiner, klorofyll etc. Aminosyror är kvävets väg in i cellen och är livsnödvändiga för embryots utveckling till en planta. Den tredje delen i avhandlingen syftade till att öka kunskapen om koloch kvävenyttjande under groningsprocessen av ett moget embryo till en planta, med speciellt fokus på kväveupptag och dess omvandling till fria aminosyror.

Glutaminets roll för utvecklingen av granplantor från somatiska embryon

När standardnäringslösningen, innehållande kväve i form av ämnena ammonium och nitrat, kompletterades med aminosyran glutamin ökade tillväxten av de embryogena celler. Sextiosju procent av kvävet i cellens aminosyror kom från det tillsatta glutaminet. Det tyder på att kväveupptaget regleras av cellerna och att glutamin föredras över andra kvävekällor. Tillsatt glutamin ökade även cellernas förmåga att omvandla kol från tillsatt sackaros (socker) till andra kolämnen, som är cellernas näring under arbeta. De cellkulturer odlade utan tillsatt glutamin hade lägre koncentrationer av fria aminosyror, och cellerna föreföll i stor utsträckning dö, till skillnad från de embryogena celler odlade med tillsatt glutamin. Det kan eventuellt förklaras med en låg ämnesomsättning (metabolism) i de celler som inte fick extra glutamin, vilket indikerar att odling av celler via somatisk embryogenes har en underliggande metaboliskstress som minskas genom tillsatts av glutamin.

Kol och kväve från näringslösningen var de främsta näringskällorna för embryots utveckling och tillväxt, och embryots egna näringsreserver inte var tillräckliga. Glutamin- och ammoniumkväve var de kvävekällor som föredrogs framför nitratkväve, vilket är den kvävekällan som ursprungligen utgjort störst andel i groningsmediet. Följaktningsvis krävs det djupare kunskap om hur näringsämnen nyttjas av somatiska embryon under groning till planta för att optimera groningen.

Mitt doktorsarbete har bidragit till ökad förståelse av glutaminets roll vid den somatiska embryogenesprocessen av gran. Resultaten från studierna kan användas för att fortsätta utvecklingen av en industriell tekniklösning med somatisk embryogenes för en effektivare granplantproduktion i en tid när nuvarande fröförsörjning hotas.

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank my two main supervisors **Ulrika Egertsdotter** and **Finnvid Prescher** for giving me the opportunity to do this project, it has taken me to places and allowed me to meet persons I never could have imagined.

I would also like to acknowledge all those of you, no name mentioned – no one forgotten, which I have had the pleasure to meet and who have helped me during my project work.

Then, I want to express my appreciation to a special group of persons who have meant a lot to me during these years. Starting with my co-supervisors; **Ulrika Ganeteg** and **Henrik Svennerstam**, without you two this thesis never would have been finished. **Ulrika G**, you have taught me to be the greater person that I am today. Thank you for always believing in me and for being my bucket all these years. **Henrik**, perhaps the blind was leading the blind, but without your guidance I still would be seeking for a path to follow! Thank you for all your time helping me with data calculations, lab work, writing and discussing science and everything that is not science.

Finnvid for being a good mentor, you are the best boss anyone can have. I'm so impressed with all your knowledge and thankful for everything you have taught me.

Thomas Moritz, for your time, advice and scientific discussions and support. And all the nice people at **the Swedish Metabolomics Centre** helping me in the lab and with all my questions.

Sofie Johansson, since the first day I stepped inside the walls of the SE-lab you have helped me, and the best thing working in the lab all these years has been our friendship.

The group of graduate student colleagues I had in the 2nd Research School of Forest Genetics, Biotechnology and Breeding - **Ainhoa**, **Alexis**, **Biyue**, **Christoffer**, **Irena**, **Jenny** and **Julia**, thank you for support and the fika during this time.

The N-group, thank you all for inviting me to the group meetings and for sharing your scientific knowledge with me.

My host company – Sveaskog/Svenska Skogsplantor; Det lilla men naggande goda och glada Frögänget (**Sven, Anders, Bengt, Jocke, Janne "på Gotland"** och **Elisabeth**), kott och gott. Jag uppskattar allt ni gjort och hjälpt mig med under dessa år.

My people, **Elsa** and **Klara**, you are my favourite tree huggers and together we can fly, really high into the sky, over rooftops and then dive, deep into the sea...And if I was a tree growing tall and green, all I'd want is you to shade me and be my leaves.

Hanna, you are a force and inspire me in so many ways. I am glad that I have you as a friend.

Mamma och Pappa som alltid ställt upp i alla lägen, från mitt äventyr mot rymden till barn- och hundpassning, när det stormar och krånglar har jag alltid er att stödja mig mot. Carolina, Mattias och Sofia, tack för att ni har stöttat och hjälpt mig i alla mina år av tokigheter. Mormor och Morfar, för erat stöd och uppmuntran till att jag kan allt jag ger mig in på. Och man kommer väldigt långt med mormors tillagade sås och potatis i magen.

Till min **Emil** som åker till månen och tillbaka för min skull, tack för att jag fick göra detta. Jag älskar dig!

Och min Iris, min finaste Iris, mamma älskar dig.

And, an honourable mention to Lily Allan, Kaliffa and coffee (...until it was acceptable to drink prosecco).